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Financial Summary
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(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

FR(EE),EF

For the year ended 31 December
BEt+t-A=+—HLEFE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E-—-F ZT-FTF —T-NF ZT-N\F —ZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FAEIT FAET FET FET
Revenue N 121,672 127,588 114,489 163,629 125,846
(Loss)/profit before BRE R (B18)
taxation o ) (2,225) (8,599) 2,310 18,302 28,734
Income tax credit/ Frisgige,/
(expenses) (F%) - 135 (1,303) (5,721) (5,330)
(Loss)/profit for the year FREE)
peawal (2,225) (8,464) 1,007 12,581 23,404
(Loss)/profit attributable to  ANA RIS I R
equity shareholders of fEfh (&518),
the Company il (2,225) (8,464) 1,007 12,581 23,404
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 31 December
R+=-HA=+—~H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—B--F —T-THF —_FT-NF —T-N\F —_FT—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET FET FET
Current assets mBNEE 168,716 164,539 183,870 176,066 86,530
Non-current assets EMENEE 2,779 3,842 2,663 1,012 1,592
Current liabilities REBEE 20,021 13,777 23,601 16,213 39,409
Non-current liabilities IERBasE 564 1,469 1,333 259 536
Net assets BEFE 150,910 153,135 161,599 160,606 48,177
Total equity attributable to  ANA EIHEZRIEER
equity shareholders JEfL e B ER
of the Company 150,910 153,135 161,599 160,606 48,177
Total equity S AEER 150,910 153,135 161,599 160,606 48,177
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “"Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$121,672,000, which was a year-on-
year decrease of 4.6% compared to approximately
HK$127,588,000 recorded in the previous financial year. The loss
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company was
approximately HK$2,225,000 (2020: approximately HK$8,464,000).

Some buildings under construction of a substantial project
situated nearby the Tai Wai mass transit station need to be
demolished and rebuilt. All works on that buildings were
suspended in mid-2021 and would resume in mid-2022. As a
result, construction progress was adversely affected and delayed,
and additional subcontracting services and the use of materials
were incurred. The delay in revenue recognition for this project
resulted in a decrease in the Group’s revenue in 2021.

The novel coronavirus continued to hinder the development of
the global economy in 2021. Factors such as macroeconomic
uncertainties had a material negative impact on the Group's
business. Construction delays, economic slowdown and
reduction in tendering for new development projects caused
pressure on the Group’s operations and tendering for new
projects. Besides, as Chinese government changed its tax
policies and cancelled the export tax rebate of 13% for building
materials, the costs of purchasing building materials (including
the steel) as raw materials by the Group would increase under
this impact. The Group will closely monitor the situation and take
appropriate measures to ensure that the Group can minimize the
direct cost and operate efficiently.

At the end of 2021, the occurrence of a more contagious
Omicron variant of the novel coronavirus brought adverse impact
and various challenges on the economy. The lockdown affected
logistic transportation and led to delays in transporting to Hong
Kong or shortages of raw materials, which severely affected the
construction progress. In addition, the infection of construction
staff also slowed down the construction progress. The economy
may not grow at an expected rate, the number of building
construction decreased, and the price of raw materials increased
due to the war between Ukraine and Russia. All of the above
factors caused impact on the future revenue and gross profit of
the Group. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to develop and

Chairman’s Statement
R
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Chairman’s Statement
By 4

actively explore potential development opportunities and control
costs and expenses. As an electrical and mechanical engineering
service provider of heating, ventilation and air-conditioning
system that has rooted in Hong Kong for more than 20 years, the
Group will continue to strive to maximize returns for
shareholders.

The Group will continue to step up its financial and licensing
management, internal control and corporate governance.
Moreover, the Group will continue to improve the management
of business plans and budgets and enhance its capabilities in
executing plans and controlling budgets, strengthen its human
resources and focus on training talents so as to further raise its
management standards which will in return deliver stable and
sustainable development to the Group.

I ' would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all the Directors,
management team and all staff for their diligence over the past
year, and to the Company's shareholders, customers, suppliers
and partners from various sectors for their ongoing great
support.

Chairman of the Board
Cheung Yuen Tung

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established HVAC electrical and mechanical
("HVAC E&M") engineering services provider in Hong Kong with
a long business history dating back to 1996. The Group generally
focuses on serving new residential property developments
projects as a first-tier or second-tier subcontractor in Hong Kong.
The HVAC E&M engineering services typically involve installation
of HVAC systems, which refers to heat, ventilation and air-
conditioning systems.

The Group is registered as a Registered Electrical Contractor
under the Electrical and Mechanical Services Departments of the
Government, a minor works contractor (company) of Type A
(Classes Il'and 1i), Type D (Classes Il and Ill) and Type E (Classes II
and Il1) under the Building Authority and a registered
subcontractor under the Subcontractor Registration Scheme
operated by the Construction Industry Council.

In order to strengthen the market position as a prime HVAC E&M
engineering services provider and become the preferred choice
of first-tier HVAC E&M engineering subcontractor for property

CENCRE Vi
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developers in Hong Kong, the Group continues to strengthen the EE MIERER  ZEYMEEREEENEL - I
financial management and licensing qualifications, securing the [ ¥ 2 ERE kS EH BT 4 FEE EEFEE
positioning in the property development value chain and pursuing g -
new business opportunities directly with property developers
and/or their designated main contractors.
FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt %% [E1 g8
Revenue WA
By type of services: ERBERE S
Year ended 31 December
HEt-A=t-BLEE
2021 2020
—E--F —ZZE
Gross Gross
Gross profit Gross profit
Revenue profit  margin Revenue profit  margin
KA ER  ERE WA = ERE
HK$'000 % HKS$'000 HK$ 000 %  HK$'000
FET % TFEn FET % TET
Installation services only FRERE 59,959 49 16,107 27% 37,023 29 8,664 23%
Installation services with HVAC ”“”*HE%%ZEH%%E
systems procurements REGRE 61,713 51 4,856 8% 90,565 71 1,602 2%
121,672 100 20,963 17% 127,588 100 10,266 8%
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By timing of revenue recognition:

REAERESHE S -

Year ended 31 December
BEt+-—A=1t—BLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF

HKS$'000 % HK$'000 %

FET % FHEIT %

Services transferred over time &R fE1 8252 B9 IR 75 90,098 74 87,970 69
Products transferred at a point R EEZER

intime Em 31,574 26 39,618 31

121,672 100 127,588 100

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's revenue
decreased by approximately HK$5,916,000 or 4.6% to
approximately HK$121,672,000. The decrease was primarily
attributable to certain buildings under construction of one of our
substantial project situated nearby the Tai Wai mass transit
station need to be demolished and reconstructed. All works have
been suspended at the buildings and would resume in mid-2022.

Cost of services

BHE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—B1&EE XK
£ 3 H U AR 495,916,000 JT 5k 4.6% 2 4
121,672,000 7T ° B2 EZEBHREMURKE
UM T ATV B N — L E B EEY T E 5
WhEE - ZEFNAEIREEE TR =
T _FHET

AR A

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t-ALEE

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E_TF

HK$’000 % HK$'000 %

FEIT % FET %

Subcontracting fees nBEMA 36,490 36 43,752 37
Materials and consumables L EINE= ) 43,963 44 53,018 45
Direct labour BHEST 17,186 17 16,302 14
Others HAh 3,070 3 4,250 4
Total 4t 100,709 100 117,322 100
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group's cost of services mainly represented the cost of
HVAC systems and other ancillary consumables such as pipes
and fittings and subcontracting charges for completing on-site
works. The cost of services decreased by approximately
HK$16,613,000 or 14.2% to approximately HK$100,709,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021, as compared to approximately
HK$117,322,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in revenue and the
decrease in materials and consumables because of the decrease
in demand for installation services with HVAC systems during the
year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit increased by approximately
HK$10,697,000 or 104.2% from approximately HK$10,266,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
HK$20,963,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
Group's gross profit margin increased from approximately 8.0%
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately 17.2% for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase in the gross
profit margin was mainly due to substantial amounts of revenue
were recognised from projects with higher profit margin. Besides,
additional costs incurred for a substantial project situated nearby
the Tai Wai mass transit station (the “Tai Wai Project”) for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Other income
The other income mainly consisted of government grants, bank
interest income and other services income, which principally
included repairing services recognised for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs, meals and
entertainment expenses, depreciation expenses, transportation
expenses and others. Administrative expenses decreased from
approximately HK$25,603,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately HK$25,102,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021, it generally stayed the same for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Finance costs

Finance costs of approximately HK$83,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021 represented interest expenses on lease
liabilities.

CENCRE Vi
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Income tax

For the year ended 31 December 2021, no provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Company and its
subsidiaries in Hong Kong have either sustained losses for tax
purpose or their unused tax losses were sufficient to cover their
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s loss and total
comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company was approximately HK$2,225,000 (2020: HK$8,464,000).
The decrease in financial loss was mainly due to substantial
amounts of revenue were recognised from projects with higher
profit margin in 2021. Besides, additional costs incurred for the
Tai Wai Project for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
construction progress of the Tai Wai Project was adversely
affected and caused delay due to the substantial subsidence
event previously. The resumption of the Tai Wai Project required
more labour forces, subcontracting services, monitoring and
testing measures to carry on the construction progress which led
to the significant decrease in the Group’s financial results for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables increased by approximately HK7,906,000 from
approximately HK$28,228,000 as at 31 December 2020 to
approximately HK$36,134,000 as at 31 December 2021. As at 31
December 2021, the trade receivables balance included payment
certificates of three new projects of approximately HK$7,000,000
issued near the end of the financial year according to the projects
progress which contributed to a larger trade receivable balance
when compared with that as at 31 December 2020.

Retention receivables decreased by approximately HK$3,143,000
from approximately HK$24,440,000 as at 31 December 2020 to
approximately HK$21,297,000 as at 31 December 2021. The
decrease in retention receivables was in line with the progress of
the projects.

10
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Deposits, prepayment and other receivables increased by
approximately HK$2,683,000 from approximately HK$629,000 as
at 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$3,312,000 as at 31
December 2021. The increase in the balance was mainly due to
the deposit paid for material acquisition of HK$2,000,000.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables increased by approximately HK$4,167,000 from
approximately HK$6,035,000 as at 31 December 2020 to
approximately HK$10,202,000 as at 31 December 2021. The
increase was mainly due to the purchase of HVAC systems for
projects installation near the end of the financial year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will further expand the service
capabilities to capture business opportunities and provide
customers with comprehensive HVAC E&M engineering services
with a prudent financial management strategy, pursuing a long-
term healthy business growth and stable return to the
shareholders.

The Group also seeking opportunities to wholly or partially
acquire equity interests of a company in the People’s Republic of
China with businesses resembling that of the Group with the
required and relevant licenses in order to develop business
prospects and obtain more projects.

In order to expand the professional talent pool, the Group will
continue to strengthen its human resources and focus on the
training of talents to build a team with outstanding members and
will employ chartered engineers with relevant experience in the
specialty of ventilation works, assistant engineers, foreman,
draftsman and quantity surveyor (depending on the pace of the
business growth) to fulfil the application requirements for, and to
acquire the qualification as registered specialist contractor in the
ventilation works category under the Buildings Department.

Despite the adverse commercial environment and the overall
uncertainties in the recent times, the Group will constantly show
perseverance in its development and its ability to obtain new
projects. As a result of the endure hard work by the
management, four new projects of total contract sum of
approximately HK$155 million were awarded to the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2021. In addition, the Group will
continue to enhance its budget management, upgrade its ability
in plan execution and budget control in order to further improve
its management standard and secure stable and sustainable
development of the Group.
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At the end of 2021, the occurrence of a more contagious
Omicron variant of the novel coronavirus brought adverse impact
and various challenges on the economy. The lockdown affected
logistic transportation and led to delays in transporting to Hong
Kong or shortages of raw materials, which severely affected the
construction progress. In addition, the infection of construction
staff also slowed the construction progress. The economy may
not grow at an expected rate, the number of building
construction decreased, and the price of raw materials increased
due to the war between Ukraine and Russia. All of the above
factors caused impact on the future revenue and gross profit of
the Group. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to develop and
actively explore potential development opportunities and control
costs and expenses.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$148,695,000 as at 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately
HK$150,762,000). The quick ratio of the Group was approximately
8.4 times as at 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately 11.9
times). The Group generally financed its daily operations by its
internal resources. The remaining unused net proceeds as at 31
December 2021 were placed as interest-bearing deposits with
licensed banks in Hong Kong.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
There is no change in the Company’s share capital during the
year.

FINANCIAL POLICIES

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of the settlement
of its trade payables and financing obligations, and its cash flow
management. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
both the short and long terms.

GEARING RATIO AND DEBT TO EQUITY
RATIO

The Group's gearing ratio, which is calculated based on the total
debt divided by total equity (defined as lease liabilities as at the
respective year divided by the total equity as at the respective
corresponding year) was approximately 1.3% as at 31 December
2021 (2020: 2.0%).

12

RoB-—FE - HEBRASLRE RGN
MERRRE RS  SRHEETHYERE
TEBLE, - £ 5 8 108 08 0 28 R AR B T
BT R BEPEIREE. S TERAET
RB b B T S - M R T
B RESRL  BMHEEEESMERE
e DN E N ES UITON
REF o B - A EE TR E LG
TREENERIEE  BHRATHE -

NRENEERMEER
RZBEZ—F+A=+—0 AEERHEE
FE K B148,6950008 T( ZFE ZFF: 4
150,762,000/ 7)) - MR- E-—F+-A=+—
B AREERPHRHASIE(ZZE-ZF : 4
11.915) c AEE—RUARTERAEAFLIER
HES RZBE-_—F+=-_A=+—H #HTxX
BAMBHREFHECIERT EERERNE B
FRERTT o

BEARRE
R ARFHRAARE L 2D -

B IS ERER

AEEASERAEEESRNFTARBESRE
UEHBRGREEENRDETAR - AREW
BRSEREERENBHORDESHTE © K
EREREMRSHE  EMneRH kRN

EEAMLEREEHES L E

R-Z-—F+-_A=+—H AEENEESR
BEER(RESAEGRESER(TEASTEN
HEAGERSHEETFENERER)GTE)NA
13% (ZZE-Z4F : 20%) °



Annual Report 2021/ Z& Z—4F4EHt

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group's debt to equity ratio, which is calculated based on
the total debt (defined as the lease liabilities minus cash and cash
equivalents as at the respective year end divided by total equity
as at the respective corresponding year) was not applicable due
to the Group recorded net cash position as at 31 December 2021.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group invested
approximately HK$786,000 (2020: approximately HK$2,979,000) in
property, plant and equipment, mainly represented motor
vehicles, computer and office equipment and other properties
leased for own use.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2020: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2021, contingent liabilities not provided for in
the consolidated financial statements were as follows:
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$831,000 was secured by motor
vehicle (2020: approximately HK$1,264,000).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not
have any significant investment, material acquisition nor disposal
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies (2020: Nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 28
June 2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not have other
future plans for material investments or capital assets.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group is not
significantly exposed to foreign currency risk arising from
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy as the foreign currency risk is considered to be
insignificant. However, the management will continue to closely
monitor the Group's foreign exchange risk exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign exchange exposure when
necessary.

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 67 employees (2020: 82
employees) with total staff costs (including Directors’
emoluments) of approximately HK$32,453,000 incurred for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$31,770,000). The
Group’s remuneration packages are generally structured with
reference to market terms and individual merits. The
remuneration committee of the Company makes
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure for the Directors and senior management.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Mr.
Cheung Yuen Tung, Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau and Prime Pinnacle
Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered
into a deed of non-competition dated 8 June 2018 ("Deed of
Non-competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and as
trustee for each of its subsidiaries). For details of the Deed of
Non-competition, please refer to the section headed
“Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders — Deed of Non-
competition” in the Prospectus of the Company. Each of the
controlling Shareholders has confirmed that none of them is
engaged in or interested in any business (other than the Group)
which, directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with the
business of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
have also reviewed the status of compliance and written
confirmation from each of the Controlling Shareholders, and
confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-
competition have been complied with by each of the Controlling
Shareholders since 11 July 2018 and up to the date of this
announcement.
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COMPETING INTEREST

Since the Listing and up to the date of this announcement, none
of the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders of the Company
or their close associates are interested in any business which
competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or
may have with the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on 11
July 2018 and 250,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at
HK$0.52 per share by way of share offer (the “Share Offer”). Net
proceeds from the Share Offer was approximately HK$102.4
million (after deducting the underwriting fees and other related
expenses.)

The net proceeds used for the intended purposes as was set out
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the
Prospectus. Set out below is the actual utilisation of net proceeds
up to the date of this announcement:
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HREARBEHEA R EE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (“Mr. Tony Cheung”)

Mr. Tony Cheung, aged 62, is the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director and one of the Controlling Shareholders. He
was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2017 and
redesignated as an executive Director on 12 March 2018. He is
also a director of Man Tung Air-Conditioning Works Limited
(“Man Tung AC Works") and Man Tung Air-Conditioning E&M
Limited (“Man Tung AC E&M"), both indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Tony Cheung is primarily
responsible for the overall strategic planning, business
development, and corporate management and sales and
marketing of the Group.

Mr. Tony Cheung has over 20 years of experience in air-
conditioning E&M engineering services industry. Mr. Tony Cheung
established a sole proprietorship in 1986 in the trade name of
“Man Tung Air-conditioning Works” to carry on the business of
providing air-conditioning installation services. He is the co-
founder of Man Tung AC Works and Shun Tung Engineering
Company Limited (“Shun Tung"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and has been a director of Man Tung
AC Works since its incorporation on 19 November 1996. Mr. Tony
Cheung established Man Tung AC E&M in April 2008 and has
been a director of the company since then. Mr. Tony Cheung,
together with Mr. Gary Cheung, has been responsible for
formulating and determining corporate and business strategies
and making major operation decisions, monitoring the business
operations, reviewing and approving significant contracts and
investment, appointment and appraisal of senior management of
the Group.

Mr. Tony Cheung is the brother of Mr. Gary Cheung, the
executive Director of the Company.
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Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau (“Mr. Gary Cheung”)

Mr. Gary Cheung, aged 57, is the chief executive officer of the
Company, an executive Director and one of the Controlling
Shareholders. He was appointed as a Director on 4 November
2017 and redesignated as an executive Director of the Company
on 12 March 2018. Mr. Gary Cheung is responsible for the general
management and supervising day-to-day operation of the Group.

Mr. Gary Cheung has approximately 20 years of experience in air-
conditioning E&M engineering services industry. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Gary Cheung was involved in the operation of the
sole proprietorship “Man Tung Air-conditioning Works”
established by Mr. Tony Cheung in the provision of air-
conditioning installation services. He is the co-founder of Man
Tung AC Works and Shun Tung and has been a director of Shun
Tung since its incorporation on 6 November 1998. Mr. Gary
Cheung, together with Mr. Tony Cheung, has been responsible
for formulating and determining corporate and business
strategies and making major operation decisions, monitoring the
business operations, reviewing and approving significant
contracts and investment, appointment and appraisal of senior
management of the Group.

Mr. Gary Cheung is the brother of Mr. Tony Cheung, the
executive Director of the Company.
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HREARBEHEA R EE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. Pang, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Pang is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s compliance, internal control and
corporate governance, but not participating in the day-to-day
management of the business operation.

Mr. Pang has over 39 years of experience in the legal profession
in Hong Kong. Mr. Pang has been a partner of Y.C. Lee, Pang, &
Kwok Solicitors (formerly known as Y.C. Lee, Pang, Kwok & Ip
Solicitors) since July 1987. Prior to joining Y.C. Lee, Pang & Kwok
Solicitors, Mr. Pang was an assistant solicitor at Gallant Y.T. HO &
Co., Solicitors & Notaries from March 1983 to March 1986. From
March 1986 to June 1987, Mr. Pang served as an assistant
solicitor at Deacons, Solicitors & Notaries. Mr. Pang has been a
legal adviser of Kwun Tong Resident Association, Kwun Tong
Association for Elderly Limited and Shun Lee Yin Ngai Society
Limited since July 2005, February 2010 and July 2013,
respectively.

Mr. Pang was appointed as a Kwun Tong District board member
from April 1985 to September 1994. From April 1989 to May 1991,
Mr. Pang was an urban councillor. He acted as the district affairs
adviser of the News China Agency from March 1994 to June
1997, responsible for advising on district affairs. Since 2012, Mr.
Pang has been the vice-president of East Kowloon Region of
Hong Kong of the Scout Association, who is responsible for
managing the financial affairs of East Kowloon Region of Hong
Kong Scout Association. He was the school manager of Kit Sum
Lam Bing Yin Secondary School since 2003 up to August 2017.

Mr. Pang obtained a bachelor of laws degree from The University
of Hong Kong in November 1980. He was admitted as a solicitor
of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in March 1983, a solicitor of
England & Wales in June 1989 and a barrister of High Court of
Australia in December 1989. He was appointed as a civil
celebrant of marriages in June 2006.
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Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. Lau, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Lau is responsible for
overseeing the Group's compliance, internal control and
corporate governance, but not participating in the day-to-day
management of our business operation.

Mr. Lau has over 27 years of experience in accounting and
finance. Mr. Lau joined Asia Aluminum Holdings Limited, a
company which engages in aluminium profile extrusion and
aluminium panel manufacturing in April 1996 with his last
position as a chief financial officer. Mr. Lau then joined Asiaalum
Holdings Limited in August 2009 as its chief financial controller
until July 2014, responsible for corporate management, major
business decisions plans and direction of strategic decisions.
From July 2014 to June 2015, Mr. Lau was an independent non-
executive director of Kirin Group Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Creative Energy Solutions Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 8109), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange and
principally carries on the business of providing energy efficiency
solutions and engineering solutions and engineering services in
the PRC, insurance brokerage and money lending services in
Hong Kong and information technology services in the
Philippines. Mr. Lau has been a director of Aceleap Consulting, a
company which carries on the business of the provision of
private equity consultancy services since January 2015.

Mr. Lau graduated from the University of Western Ontario in
Canada with a bachelor’'s degree of science in 1989. He is
currently an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). He has been admitted
as a member of the HKICPA in June 1997.
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HREARBEHEA R EE

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson (formerly known as Law Chi
Cheong)

Mr. Law, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Law is responsible for
overseeing the Group's compliance, internal control and
corporate governance, but not participating in the day-to-day
management of our business operation.

Mr. Law has over 36 years of experience in banking and
corporate finance industry. Mr. Law joined Manufacturers
Hanover Trust Company in March 1982 with his last position as
an officer-in- charge of the regional processing centre,
responsible for training, quality control and daily operation. From
June 1989 to December 1989, Mr. Law worked as an account
officer at the First Interstate Bank of California. From November
1991 to August 1998, he worked at Fillpark Limited with his last
position as a general manager. Mr. Law joined Rank Charm
Development Limited as a general manager from 1994 to 1996.
He also worked as a general manager in Wholewin Group, a
company specialised in digital marketing from 2005 to 2008.
Since 2008, Mr. Law has been an associate director of JP Advisory
Limited, a company specialise in corporate finance. Since
September 2013, he has also been the chairman of Angel Fund
Co. Ltd.. From September 2013 to December 2019, Mr. Law was
a non-executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8269), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
which principally carries on natural resources trading and
financial businesses. Since February 2014, he was employed as a
chief operating officer of Cheung Sheng Global Holdings Limited
and was responsible for overseeing general operation of the
company. Since July 2015, Mr. Law has been a director, chairman
and chief financial officer of Sealand Capital Galaxy Limited
(United Kingdom stock code: SGCL), a company listed on the
London Stock Exchange, responsible for the management of the
company and strategic business development. Mr. Law has been
an independent non-executive director of K Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8475), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange since July 2018. Mr. Law completed secondary school
education in Hong Kong in 1979.

Save as disclosed above, each of the Directors (i) has not held
any directorships in any public companies (the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas) in the last three years; (ii) does not have any
relationship with any other Directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling Shareholders of the Company; and (iii)
does not hold any positions in the Company or other members of
the Group.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YIP Kam Ming

Mr. Yip, aged 39, is the project director of the Group. Mr. Yip has
over 14 years of experience in E&M engineering services
industry. He joined the Group in May 2006 as an assistant
engineer and was subsequently promoted as a project manager.
Mr. Yip is responsible for management and technical direction of
the Group's projects and overseeing project design, development
and overall project performance of the Group. Mr. Yip graduated
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s
degree of engineering in building services engineering in October
2012.

Mr. CHEUNG Ting Fun, Andy

Mr. Cheung, aged 37, is the project director of the Group. Mr.
Cheung joined the Group in July 2008 as an assistant engineer
and was subsequently promoted as a project manager. Mr.
Cheung is responsible for management and technical direction of
the Group's projects and overseeing project design, development
and overall project performance of the Group.

Mr. Cheung graduated from McMaster University in Canada with
a bachelor degree of engineering, majoring in mechanical
engineering in November 2008. In November 2014, he further
obtained a master degree of science in building services
engineering from The University of Hong Kong. He has been a
member of American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-
Conditioning Engineers since November 2008. Mr. Cheung has
over 12 years of experience in E&M engineering services
industry. Mr. Cheung was an engineering trainee in Honda of
Canada from September 2007 to November 2008 prior to joining
the Group. Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Tony Cheung, the
executive Director.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LO Wan Man

Ms. Lo, aged 47, has over 20 years of experience in the area of
accounting, auditing and financial management for both listed
and private companies in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China by working in an international accounting firm and other
listed companies. She obtained a master of science in finance
from City University of Hong Kong in November 2006. She worked
at Ernst & Young from March 2001 to December 2003. She was
then employed by Emperor Motion Picture (Hong Kong) Limited
as finance manager from May 2004 to July 2008. Subsequently,
she worked at New World Telecommunications Limited as
finance manager in July 2008 until her resignation in March 2010.
She was a finance manager of Midland IC&I Limited from May
2011 to January 2014. Since May 2015 she has been employed by
MCGI Consultancy Limited as a senior consultant. Since May
2019, she has been appointed as the independent non-executive
Director of Risecomm Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 1679). Ms. Lo has been a member of HKICPA since
January 2003.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Man
Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) have the pleasure
in submitting their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of installation of
heat, ventilation and air-conditioning system (the "HVAC")
business in Hong Kong. Details of the activities and other
particulars of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021 and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development, and also the Group's performance during the year
ended 31 December 2021 using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the "Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 7 to 15 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 contained the
information required under Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) is set out on pages 33 to 68 of this
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

ASs an entity incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed in
Hong Kong, the Company is mainly governed by the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622),
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) and the Listing
Rules. The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and each of its
committee has its own term of reference defining their respective
rights, duties and obligation.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, there is no material breach of or non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group
which has a significant impact on its business and operations.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its employees, customers, suppliers,
governments and business associates to fulfil its long-term goals
and development. To enhance its competitiveness, the Group
aims at delivering high quality services to its customers
constantly and to continue establishing a caring environment to
employees and emphasis the personal development of its
employees. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was
no material or significant dispute between the Group and its
stakeholders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and uncertainties involved in the business operations of the
Group may affect the Group’s financial conditions or growth
prospects. The Group has been focusing on the control of risks
and uncertainties with the aim of understanding and addressing
the concerns of stakeholders. Key risks and uncertainties faced
by the Group are listed below:

— the revenue is mainly derived from HVAC E&M engineering
projects which are non-recurrent in nature and any failure
of our Group to secure tender contracts would affect our
operations and financial results;

— error or inaccurate estimation of project execution
timeframe and/or project duration and/or costs may result
in substantial loss incurred by us or adversely affect our
revenue and profitability;

— reliance on the major customers;

— the revenue and profit margin are subject to fluctuations
driven by various factors including but not limited to
variation orders, and the past revenue and profit margin
may not be indicative of our future financial performance;

— the strategy to undertake more projects as first-tier HVAC
E&M subcontractor and diversify the customer base could
lead to lower gross and net profit margin going forward;
and

— may not be able to bill and receive the full amount of gross
amount due from customers for contract work, if progress
payment or retention money is not paid in full as a result of
disputes over the work done, the liquidity position may be
adversely affected.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No event has occurred after 31 December 2021 and up to the
date of this report which would have a material effect on the
Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group'’s results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 90 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend to declare a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

The Board do not have a fixed dividend policy and the Company
does not have any predetermined dividend pay-out ratio. The
payment and the amount of any future dividends will be at the
discretion of the Board and will depend on a number of factors,
including but not limited to the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, cash flow position, general financial
condition and other factors that the Directors deem relevant.
Investors should note that historical dividend distributions are not
indicative of the Company's future dividend distribution policy.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Thursday, 9 June 2022 (the “AGM"). A notice convening the AGM
has been issued to the Shareholders together with this annual
report, which is also available on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’'s website
www.manshungroup.com.hk.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 6 June 2022 to Thursday, 9 June 2022 (both days
inclusive), for the purpose of determining Shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting. In
order to be eligible to attend and to vote at the annual general
meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. on Thursday, 2 June 2022.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this
annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s securities listed on the Stock Exchange.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 21(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
Note 21(a) to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 91 of this
annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of the reserves
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Company’s memorandum and articles of association was
HK$79,496,000 (2020: HK$83,002,000).
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DONATIONS

Donation of HK$73,000 was made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$179,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as those disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this Directors’ Report, no other equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed by all the shareholders on 8 June
2018, the Company has conditionally adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to the eligible participants for
their contribution to the Group and enable the Group to recruit
and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group. The Board is entitled at any time
and from time to time grant options pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme to the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries and
employees of the Group and any other persons (including
consultants or advisers) whom the Board considers have
contributed or will contribute to the Group. The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Board may, at its discretion, determine the minimum period
for which the option has to be held before it can be exercised,
and the period during which an option may be exercised.
However, no options shall be exercised ten years after they have
been granted. The subscription price of a share in respect of a
particular option shall be not less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s on
the daily quotation sheet on the date of the grant of the option,
which must be a trading day; (i) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the
grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The
Share Option Scheme shall take effect from the date it is adopted
and shall remain effective within a period of 10 years from that
date.
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From the date that the Share Option Scheme became effective
and unconditional and up to the date of this annual report, no
share options were granted under the Share Option Scheme.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, 37.9% and 90.8% of the
Group's revenue were attributable to the largest customer and
the five largest customers of the Group, respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 21.4% and 40.3% of
the total direct costs of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up
to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from
each of the independent non-executive Directors and considers
them to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 16 to 21 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung and Mr. Lau Yu Ching will
retire by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2021 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a
subsidiary of its holding companies a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has carried
transactions with its related party as detailed in Note 23(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. Save for as disclosed above,
no other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding
companies or a subsidiary of its holding companies was a party
or were parties and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, no
controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any contract
of significance (including contract of significance for the provision
of services) with the Company or its subsidiaries during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors
was interested in any business, which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries that is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the remuneration
committee of the Board at least once per year with reference to
the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
results of the Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the five individuals
with the highest emoluments in the Group comprises 2 Directors
and 3 individuals, which included the senior management of the
Company. Details of the highest paid individuals are set out in
Note 8 and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 467 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the financial
year ended 31 December 2021. In addition, the Company has
taken out and kept in force appropriate directors’ and officers'
liabilities insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)) which were required to be: () notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which the Directors and chief executive of the Company were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii)
entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, are set out below:
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Long positions in the Share

(i) RERONEFRE

Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares shareholding
EEHE B Rty RHEBE RESIEIL
Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung Interest in controlled corporation 750,000,000 75%
(“Tony Cheung") (note) RYEEBE R
skoTimE A ([RTBEE D (K77)
Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau Interest in controlled corporation 750,000,000 75%
("Gary Cheung") (note) YR LB
SRR E A (R EED (K777)
Note: Prime Pinnacle Limited (“Prime Pinnacle”) is beneficially owned HizF - Prime Pinnacle Limited ([ Prime Pinnacle]) g5 5%

as to 51% by Mr. Tony Cheung and 49% by Mr. Gary Cheung. On
12 March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and Mr. Gary Cheung entered
into the concert party deed to acknowledge and confirm, among
other things, that they are parties acting in concert and are
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Prime Pinnacle.

Long position in the ordinary shares of associated (i)

corporation

TLIBSTE MR TR E D B E 2B 51% K 49%
RIE—NE=A+-H Rx@BEEERTN
SERTM —HITE AT RE
FEB)EEAE-BITBAL
Pinnacle FT#E AR 10 HE A #E s ©

REBEEEBERNER

CAERRER(E
AR B H Prime

Approximate
Name of associated Capacity/Nature of Number of percentage of
Name of Director corporation interest share(s) held shareholding
EEHE HEEEEE R 51 REmttE FEROGEE RESIESHL
Mr. Tony Cheung (note) ~ Prime Pinnacle Beneficial owner 51 51%
SR TTIB ST A& (M at) EmfEA A
Mr. Gary Cheung (hote) Prime Pinnacle Beneficial owner 49 49%
SR TTAK ST A (P 72) EmfEA A
Note: Prime Pinnacle is the direct shareholder of the Company and is Bzt - Prime Pinnacle /& 748 22 7] ) B 32 AR R LA 2 38 % 1 £

an associated corporation within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFO.

BRI XV 2R AT SLE RO

Bt A o
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other
than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) had, or were
taken or deemed to have interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which are required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Directors’ Report

G

FERRNESIAR

BAEAESI AR &ESTRAEMA RS
T—F+ZA=+—H U TAT(TEBRESE
RABREITERAER) RAR B K ABRER (5
B WEERBRBEERIEESF KBS
EXVEE2RIDEHEBRARAGERE - =X
RER ARG RIBEFESFRBPEKRAIEFIBEFE
MEREMZ EEsAR

Approximate

Number of  percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares shareholding

BRREHE A B RERME ROEBE RESHIEIL

Prime Pinnacle (note 1) Beneficial owner 750,000,000 75%

Prime Pinnacle (A% 1) EmEBA

Ms. Chan Ho Fung (note 2) Interest of spouse 750,000,000 75%

PR 4T Bl 2oL (BYat2) FeiB s

Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink (note 3) Interest of spouse 750,000,000 75%

BB L+ (f17E3) FeiB s

Notes: et -

™ Prime Pinnacle is beneficially owned as to 51% by Mr. Tony Cheung (1) Prime Pinnacle B35k TS & MR T ED B E = HA
and 49% by Mr. Gary Cheung. On 12 March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and 51% R A9% - RZET—\F=A+=H RKulk
Mr. Gary Cheung entered into the concert party deed to acknowledge A ERTTIRE AR —BUTEI A L2288 - AR RER
and confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting in concert (EFEE)BER—BITBHAL  WHEKE AR Prime
and are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Prime Pinnacle. Pinnacle FT#sAR 1 P G #E 2 ©

@ Ms. Chan Ho Fung is the spouse of Mr. Tony Cheung. Accordingly, Ms.  (2) fRaF Bl 2+ AsRTmE R - Bt - BEBEFES L
Chan Ho Fung is deemed or taken to be interested in the shares in ERA - BRIFEZ LR BB ERRTmE £ AR
which Mr. Tony Cheung is interested under the SFO. AR 1D PR A o

(3 Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink is the spouse of Mr. Gary Cheung. (3 BB Z T ARTMEENERS - Bt - BIEFHF KB

Accordingly, Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink is deemed or taken to be
interested in the shares in which Mr. Gary Cheung is interested under
the SFO.

BIEP - BRBL TR RNEERRITIKE LB E
E‘Jﬂﬂnqﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁfé
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P

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified by
any other persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were entered in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at 31
December 2021.

TRANSACTIONS DISCLOSED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE RULES
GOVERNING THE LISTING OF SECURITIES
ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are provided under Note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements, and none of which constitutes
a discloseable connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float as required
under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December
2021 and up to the date of this annual report.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS
The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITORS

KPMG retired and, being eligible, offered themselves for
reappointment. A resolution for the reappointment of KPMG as
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the AGM. The
shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on 11
July 2018 and there has been no change in auditor since then.

By order of the Board

CHEUNG Yuen Tung
Chairman

29 March 2022
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company” together
with its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) is
pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) for the year ended 31
December 2021 to provide an overview of the Group’s
management of significant issues affecting the operation,
including environmental, social and governance (“ESG") iSsues.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of directors (“The Board”) has overall responsibility
for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. The Board is
responsible for evaluating and determining the Group's ESG-
related risks and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems are in place. The
Executive Directors are responsible for formulating ESG
management policies, strategies, goals, and annual reporting and
promoting related implementation. They also identify, evaluate,
review, and manage major ESG issues, risks and opportunities
while other departments are responsible for organizing,
promoting, and implementing various ESG related tasks under
the Group’s ESG management policies and strategies. All tasks
will be reported to the Board regularly in order to review and re-
formulate the policies and plans for achievement of goals and
targets.

REPORTING PERIOD

The Report illustrates the Group’s initiative and performance
regarding the environmental and social aspects during the
reporting period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the
"Reporting Period”).

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers all subsidiaries of the Group in Hong Kong
with core business principally engaged in provision of installation
of heat, ventilation and air-conditioning system (the "HVAC")
business in Hong Kong. The Group will continue in assessing the
impacts of its business on the major ESG aspects and to include
in the Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The Report is prepared with reference to the ESG Reporting
Guide set out by Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). The Group has complied with the disclosure
requirements of the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the
ESG Reporting Guide. Certain key performance indicators
("KPIs"), which are considered material by the Group are
disclosed during the Reporting Period, the Group will continue to
optimize and improve the disclosure of KPIs.

BREE AL RS

BARARE

ZIREE (21) ARAR (AR EAAKE
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BREE AL KRR

During its preparation, the Group adheres to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency
by:

RimELBRET  AEEEBUT T RNEREE -
Bt FER—BENRERA

Reporting Principles Interpretation

The Group's Application

|ERA RE REBMER
Materiality — The report should disclose significant impacts — The Group conducts questionnaire to understand

on the environment and society, or aspects that
materially affect how the stakeholders assess
the company and make decisions.
BEN — BERBBHRERMEMERNEAT 2K
HREMHETRAARRELFENAELE
TEMERE o

Quantitative — The KPIs disclosed in the report shall be
calculable and comparable where applicable.

2t — BEMBRBEOERESEEET THERRE
EER T AT o
Balance — The Group should objectively and truthfully

report its ESG performance for the year.

T — FEERESEEEMREELAFENERE
HERERAFTENRE o
Consistency — The ESG report should be preparedina

consistent manner, its ESG's KPIs can be
compared to understand corporate
performance.

—HiE — R HeREARSNREIAERE—
¥ RR HENERNBRERERT T
B ATRARRR -

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on the Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email to
info@manshun.com.

APPROVAL OF THE REPORT

The Report was approved by the Board of the Group on 29 March
2022.

34

stakeholders’ expectations. Based on the results of
the questionnaire, the Group identifies and reports
the Group's material sustainability issues.

— ASECETHERENTRBNEHE - BERM
BREHER  TEEFRAIRBEESARELRR

2% B
o

— Under feasible situation, the Group records,
calculates and discloses quantitative information
and conducts comparisons with past performance.

— EUTERT  AEECRS  FTEREEELE
R BB RITEITLLE ©

— The Group follows the principles of accuracy,
objectivity and fairness to report its achievements
and challenges in sustainable development.

— REEDERE -  TERATARA - REERTH
BERRAERE MG RFTEE R E o

— The Group ensures consistency in preparing the
report and manage its ESG data for future
comparison. If there are any changes to the
methodologies, calculations, or any other factors
that affect meaningful comparison, the Group will
make a clear explanation.

— FREEERREZEMERHNO BT UEBRSE -
HEREREE  MMEARETLER - 7% &t
EYAEMTE2EERLBNAREEE - K
KBS ELRRESA -

R ER
AEBEN BETHARESRODBBENFERRE
LR EE R o 55 E E = info@manshun.com £2
AP AR o

AR E
BEEN T _FZA-TNERAEEES
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

We identified the key stakeholders of our business operations.
We interact with our stakeholders regularly through various
communication channels. The following table illustrates the

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BREE AL RS

#HhESH

issues of concern of our major stakeholders and the ways we
communicate with stakeholders:

BABR L EBZETNERFHENE  WEBSE
BEBARBEKNETHES - TRIPALIER
DEMBINEEARBMERFHEBBNT

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
BRE HE SHERE it
Government — To comply with laws and — On-site inspections and checks ~ — Operated, managed and paid taxes
regulations — Research and discussion according to laws and regulations,
— Proper tax payment through work conferences, strengthened safety management;
— Promote regional economic work reports preparation and accepted the governments
development and submission for approval supervision, inspection and
employment — Interim reports, annual reports, evaluation, and actively undertook
announcements social responsibilities.
— Company website
B — BTEE — BERKkE — BEBEZEREREE BERMT
— BENH — MRRERBIIEGRETHH MRALZ2EE  BEXHNES - 8E
— REBALBEERLIE RETERE RIBR G At R - WRERARELEET -
#E
— RHRE  FRRAM
— DEM
Shareholders — Return on investment — Annual general meeting and — Issued notices of general meeting and

and Investors

BRREEEE

— Information disclosure and

transparency

— Protection of interests and

fair treatment of
shareholders

— BuSsiness risk management

— BAGH
— ANBBREDE
— REBEFRERATHER

R

— ¥KRERER

other shareholders’ meetings

— Interim reports, annual report,
announcements

— Company website

— Meeting with investors and
analysts

— BRBFRGLEMBERAS
— RHRE FH A6
— AR

— BREEROWEEA

proposed resolutions according to
regulations, disclosed corporate
information by publishing
announcements/circulars and interim/
annual reports.

— Carried out different forms of investor
activities with an aim to improve
investor's recognition. Held results
briefing. Disclosed corporate contact
details on website and in reports and
ensured all communication channels
available and effective.

— REERNEREASBE REE
BR - TBEAM/BERTHFE
i‘eﬁiw&EE@ AR} o

— RRAREERIEMRITZERA
RIREHEE) - BIT—REEBN
o NEURRETRBELAHSEE
B WiRRAAEBBRERNAIA -
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BRI - e KRB R

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
BRE HE SHERE it
Employees — Safeguard the rights and — Conference — Provided a healthy and safe working
interests of employees — Training, seminars, briefing environment; developed a fair
— Working environment sessions mechanism for promotion; cared for
— Career Development — Annual performance appraisal employees by helping those in need
opportunities — Intranet and emails and organizing employee activities.
— Self-actualization
— Health and safety
EE — REES#ER — ®F — RERRZENIERER  ZULT
— I{ERE — B EE-EHhe BHE REFZEDMNES RE
— BXURNE — FERRTL MHEEEE -
— ERER — NERELRED
— REAZE
Customers — Safe and high-quality — Website, brochures, interim — Strengthened quality management to
products reports, annual reports, ensure stable service standards, and
— Stable relationship announcements entered into long-term strategic
— Information transparency — Email and customer service cooperation agreements.
— Integrity hotline
— Business ethics — Feedback forms
— Regular meeting
®P — Z2REEEm — @ ST - P ER — MBEESEE  URRREIZER
— BEER & FR A o WEFTRBERAERZ -
— BHBEHE — BBREPRBRE
— WiE — BER%
— HFEE — THez
Suppliers/ — Long-term partnership — Business meetings, supplier — Invited tenders publicly to select best
Partners — Honest cooperation conferences, phone calls and suppliers and contractors, performed
— Fairness and openness interviews contracts according to agreements,
— Information resources — Regular meeting enhanced daily communication, and
sharing — Review and assessment established long-term cooperation
— Risk reduction — Tendering process with quality suppliers and contractors.
— Company website
— Email, circulars and manual
e,/ — REEHBAR — EBen HERgR - i — BRARBEERGEMRERN AR
BIERBH — HEBEAIE RE# B RERERETEL  NRAFEE
— DFRRA — THeE B TEEEHER I AREERUR
— DEERER — IR REHE HEVERR -
— BERR — BEEF
— QA
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BREE AL RS

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measures
BiHE i) SHRE i
Peer/industry — Experience sharing — Industry conference — Stuck to fair play, cooperated with
associations — Corporations — Site visit peers to realize win-win, shared
— Fair competition experiences and attended seminars of
the industry so as to promote
sustainable development of the
industry.
R/ 11%he — B%9=E — 11¥&3 —-iﬁ@? R HREXAEERE
— & — BuiRs B DERER  ARBMITER
— REHEF g URBTERAREER -
Financial — Compliance with the laws — Consulting — Complied with regulatory
institution and regulations — information disclosure requirements in a strict manner,
— Disclosure information — Reports disclosed and reported information in
a timely and accurate manner
according to law.
PRIIE — EFEERER — i — BRETEEAT  ROEREERD
— BEEH — BHEE RERREER
— ®E
Media — Transparent information — Company website — Organized conference, media
— Communication with media — Interviews gathering and site visit to enhance the
— Media conference communication with media.
— Media gathering
B — BREH — QA8 — HEeE EEFEREHNER I
— HEEFER — ok EEHIER o
— wEREFE
— EEEE
Public and — Community involvement — Volunteering — Gave priority to local people seeking
communities ~ — Social responsibilities — Charity and social investment jobs from the Company so as to
— Promote employment — Annual reports promote community building anc
development; built roads, protected
the communities, ecologica
environment, and provided timely
compensation and assistance;
provided volunteer service, kept
communication channels open
between the Company and the
communities and villagers,
cosponsored community activities to
promote the building up of
harmonious communities
REATERMER — #HELH — ETLEH — BEREARARAFRBHEMA £
— HEEAR — RERMERE EMRERRERE  BREK  RE
— {RERE — F&% I AERRIRIE - &Mk1@1&k

B REETRS - REFBRAR
Bt R R ROBRRE %ﬂ%%
HEES  (REERNELE -
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BREE AL KRR

Materiality Assessment

With a growing population, challenges such as climate change,
energy supply and security, raw material scarcity, human health
and safety, and employment must be addressed to ensure that
people can lead healthy and fulfilling lives. Faced with a wide
range of issues, the Group is keen to identify those that have a
great impact on its stakeholders and business, and then to
develop its strategic priorities. This is why materiality assessment
is an essential part of the Group’'s ESG management and
reporting.

EEMFTE

BEE ADTHENER - REERAPIEESE @R
FEMNEE  HARHRERL  EREEEZ
2 BRMHER  ABRRERZZ2ARERS
B o MY EZHEE - NEEREGRERHE D
EREBBREAZENZE - WHIRTHBARE
B At EEUFERAAKERE HEK
EREENREHN —ERESERED o

Materiality Matrix

High® EEMEME
Employment
=%
Health and safety
W . Labour guidelines BEEZE
O Development and training T 323
z EEPEE] ®e
< ®
(&) ®
i °
= : :
O K Use of resources Anti-corruption
L R °* o RE
Z’.I * Supply chain management
< Emissions HEHEEE
2 PR
‘& Climate change Product liability
E KRIREL EmEE
° Community investment
¢ HBRE
°
Environment and natural resources
° RERBAER
Low{& BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT SIGNIFICANCE High®

EBBRREEN

The Group has established a stakeholder-driven approach to
analysing the importance of ESG and identified 12 issues most
relevant to the Group’s business. A questionnaire was then
conducted, in which stakeholders were invited to rate the issues
based on their importance to the Group’s business and to the
stakeholders themselves.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Aspect A1: Emissions

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to sustainable
development and compliance with laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection, the Group endeavors
to minimise the environmental impact of the business
activities and maintain green operations and green office
practices.

Our business is mainly providing HVAC electrical and
mechanical engineering ("E&M engineering”) services
which focus on servicing new residential property
development projects as a first-tier or second-tier
subcontractor in Hong Kong. Our work performed as a first-
tier subcontractor is mainly for overall project management
and supervision of HYAC E&M engineering works
conducted by us and/or our subcontractors to ensure their
conformity to contractual specifications and requirements
of the property developers while work performed as
second-tier subcontractor is mainly responsible to execute
installation work of HVAC system such as fixing of devices
and connection of various pipe through our workers and
subcontractor. Meanwhile, we delegate part of the
installation process or overall installation works for part of
the site areas to our subcontractors to assist us in
completing on-site works. Thus, given the nature of our
HVAC E&M engineering services that focus on project
management and installation work, together with
subcontracting practice, the Group poses less negative
impact to the environment than most typical construction/
engineering industries.

Our Group's operations in work sites are subject to certain
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong
Kong, such as Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal Ordinance
(Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has been
in strict compliance with the above relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong. We endeavour to minimise any
adverse impact on the environment resulting from our
business activities. In order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws, we had implemented an
environmental management system. Apart from following
the environmental protection policies formulated and
required by our customers, we have also established our
environmental management policy to ensure proper
management of environmental protection and compliance
of environmental laws and regulations by both our
employees and workers of the subcontractors on, among
others, noise control and waste disposal.

BREE AL RS

IRIZE/EH
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40

Such key measures and procedures concerning mainly
noise pollution and waste control include, amongst other
things:

Noise control
— Installation of acoustic barriers as required;

— Inspection and maintenance of all equipment before
use for compliance of permitted noise level;

— Works to be undertaken in accordance with the
permitted work hours as specified by each project.

Waste disposal

— Waste to be segregated into general wastes and
construction wastes before transporting to landfills;

— The Company has established and maintained
procedures designed to control risks arising from
handling storage, use and disposal of substances
hazardous to health and specific safety training has
been conducted to relevant persons for handling the
hazardous substance;

— The Company has also followed main-contractor’s
safety regulation on site basis and reviewed by the
main-contractor on a regular period.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations related to environmental protection,
greenhouse gas (“GHG") emission, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

Regarding hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, solid
wastes are separately stored and handled with the ledger
for record. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
generate/consume significant hazardous and non-
hazardous waste and water due to its business nature.

TRHRBZSRANEYE G BRNERER
KRR EE

REE
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In addition, the Group advocates emission reduction, and is AN - REEREREE - IR EBRAIFE
committed to achieving sustainable operations and K MBS E BT ENBEREX - B
compliance with emission requirements permitted by the I BPIERRE(BREER 52D - RE
local authorities. To this end, we have set preliminary RiEE BEREEEZEY 5K VLHEL
directional targets in terms of reducing emissions (including EMBZ - AEBBBEREEANRSLYIE
air pollutants, greenhouse gas, hazardous and non- FIETE - SiEFTE - BN ETEI IR - AR
hazardous wastes, and sewage). The Group will actively BB BEYELERIEBRESRZRE - K
implement the air pollutants control plan, electricity-saving SEBRER  UASHERREEMER
plan, material-saving plan and measures to maintain or Zike o KK RMEREFERHENELIE
reduce the intensity of waste production and relevant gas EEE DUREBEREEERAER - It
emissions. The Group will review the progress and explore SN BPERR A EEARZER - BN
more opportunities for various environmental protection BRI EE -

goals. In the future, we will set more specific quantitative
environmental goals to nurture the environment and
cherish natural resources. Moreover, we are investing
more resources in recycling to help the development of
circular economy.

Environmental aspects Targets
RIEEE BE
Air Pollutants Emissions The Group will actively implement the air pollutants control

plan and measures to maintain or reduce the intensity of air
pollutants emissions.

=R RMEE R AEBBEEET RS REMIE G 8 R - A%
EZERSEYBEREE -

Greenhouse Gas Emissions The Group will actively implement the electricity-saving plan
and measures to maintain or reduce the intensity of
greenhouse gas emissions.

BE R AEBBBEREEHETEIREE  UEFIREAERE
PEERE o

Waste Reduction The Group will actively implement the material-saving plan
and measures to maintain or reduce the intensity of waste
production.

REPIR REEBEGEEEM T8 LA - LRSS REYES

M
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Major air pollutants emission from vehicles during the
Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2020 are
as follows:

RBEHE N —F - TFRYPERELNT
EERISRYBRIE R T

Air Pollutant Emission

ZERISRMBMIER
Air Pollutant Emission (kg)
ERMBERE (TR)
2021 2020
Type of Air Pollutants ZERIERYER —E-—F —ETF
Sulphur dioxide —&/bR 0.33 0.34
Nitrogen oxides k=t a) 191.50 212.29
Particulate matter ok E 18.30 20.32

The greenhouse gas ("“GHG") emission from the operation
during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period
in 2020 are set out below:

RBEMRA N —T_TFRH -

BERE (8

LEELW
ERE RIS -

GHG Emission

BERBHEMEBER
Equivalent CO2 emission (kg)
—EBRERYEER (TR)
2021 2020
Type of GHG emissions BEREHERER —E-—F —ETF
Scope 1 Direct emissions FE N EREER 59,575.35 61,506.06
Scope 2 Indirect emissions &3[E 2 R B HERR 12,356.89 14,507.46
Total #st 71,932.24 76,013.52
intensity (kg/revenue HK$'000) BE(TR/FTHBITKWA) 0.59 0.60

Note:

The calculation of the GHG gas is based on the “A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting standard” from The GHG Protocol.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from vehicles that are owned by the Group

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The Group places high priority on the efficient use of
resources. The major resources used by the Group are
electricity, water, and paper. The Group strives to improve
the efficient use of natural resources, such as minimising
waste/emissions and implementing effective recycling
program. Practical measures are implemented as follows:

RERBRBERERESE
FHH -

SR E G ERETE]

HE  NEREFHER EW BRI

HE2 : NEEPMEFEINEB NELENREBER

EBHEA2 : EREH
AEFBFTHERBERERER - AEEFA
MEBERAESH KRMRK -  REBES
WEXRABEREARE  flinES R/ EE
W, B WEEESRAEIWEE o AT
BOEHRNEREE
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Electricity

Electricity saving measures are encouraged that electrical
appliances are required to be set as energy saving mode
where possible. For computers, the idle automatically
mode is 20 minutes or less. The room temperature should
be set in a range from 20°C to 26°C. Also, power supply
should be switched off when they are not in use.
Preference will be given to office equipment with relatively
high energy efficiency. Adopting LED lighting in the office.

Energy consumption by the Group during the Reporting
Period and the corresponding period in 2020 are set out
below:

BREE AL RS

g1

K%liﬁﬁbﬁéﬁxﬁﬁ% Sif - BERHE AR e

ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%iﬁ BN EDREEARER
ﬁij%?ﬁ © i/mﬁé EE2OC¢26OC

HIFIEA o b - BIRETARERME - &

EEBELEAERIERANHATR

1% WA ZE ALK LED BRAA o

AEBNREFHAN S T FRENEIR
HFEDT -

Energy Consumption

BERUE#E
Energy consumed (kwh)
FrERER (TR K

2021 2020
Type of energy geREER —E-—F —ETF
Unleaded petrol B3 M 162,426.03 177,484.91
Diesel geh 54,787.01 46,068.81
Purchased electricity SN EE ) 33,397.00 28,446.00
Total et 250,610.04 251,999.72
Energy intensity (kwh/revenue ERZRE (TRE 2.06 1.98

HK$'000) FRTHA)

Water

The Group did not encounter any problems in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose during the Reporting Period.
Water consumption by the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out below, while no information is available for
the corresponding period in 2020 as we considered the
freshwater use was relatively insignificant for the Group:

7K
ARE BN R E BB E ARG A AR B
FMEMEE - AEERSEHENAKESH
P BEHABRMRAREBNAKAE
BE8/)N WEEFES-Z_ZFREPE
B

Water Consumption

KE
(m3)
(LA K)
2021
—E-—F
Running water consumed ERVISErE 28.00
Total st 28.00
Intensity (kwh/revenue HK$’'000) RE(TEE FTHITHWA) 0.0002

43



Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / 75 A 42 [ (25t ) A B 2 5

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI - e KRB R

44

Paper

Reduction in paper use indirectly reduces the overall GHG
emission. The Group has been taking the following steps to
reduce paper consumption:

— Reduce the use of paper by printing or photocopying
on both sides of paper, where applicable;

—  Encourage the employee to use suitable font size/
shrinkage mode to minimise pages, if possible.
Besides, electronic media is recommended for
circulation/communication, to minimise using paper.

During the Reporting Period, the consumption of paper and
packaging material was 1,484 kg (2020: 1,443 kg) and 7,163
pieces (2020: 19,500 pieces), respectively.

In addition, the Group advocates energy and resources
saving, and is committed to achieving sustainable
operations and compliance with emission requirements by
local authorities. To this end, we have set preliminary
directional targets in terms of energy use efficiency and
water efficiency, in order to perform better energy
conservation and water conservation. The Group will
actively implement the electricity-saving plan, water-saving
plan and measures to maintain or reduce the intensity of
electricity consumption and water consumption. The Group
will review the progress and explore more opportunities for
various environmental protection goals. In the future, we
will set more specific quantitative environmental goals to
nurture the environment and cherish natural resources.
Moreover, we are investing more resources in recycling to
help the development of circular economy.

Rl D150 R AR OR P PR R PR B R R = SR B HE IR
B - AEBE-ERBA TR ARE -

— REERHERAEEITESEHR K
RAE

— ZREIFAUREAGENFREX
N HRENFE R LARL D BB e S TR
BEAEFIAERXME, BB A
BEROHERRHE -

REREHAR - ARERBEMBAEREED R
B4 TR (ZE-FF 1443F5) &%
71631 (ZZ =T 4F 1 19,50014F) -

SO - REBEEHHERRER - AR
ERAREKERETEMBRTNIRE
Koo Rtk - BHAPIE BLAEIR A AR M Ak
RYTWELTER B - AE I i or B REER
IKIAE - AEBEEBEREER S - 8K
A& REE - MRFRBDEE RFEKE
B - AEERRTER  UASSHRRERF
MEEZHE o KRR - LI REEREN
BLEREER URERRLEEBAER
IR MAN - RAERKTERARZER -
B D BIREEH B -

Environmental aspects Targets
RIEEE BE

Energy Conservation

Water Conservation

K

The Group will actively implement the electricity-saving plan
and measures to maintain or reduce the intensity of electricity
consumption.
AEEGEREEEELTE

| RdEhE - N RRERERE -

The Group will actively implement the water-saving plan and
measures to maintain or reduce the intensity of water
consumption.

REEGTEREEEKGEIRIEHE - ERF R EFEKREE -
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Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group raises staff's awareness on environmental
issues through education and training and enlist
employees’ support in improving the Group's performance,
promote environmental awareness amongst the
customers, business partners and shareholders and
support community activities in relation to environmental
protection and sustainability and evaluate regularly and
monitor past and present business activities impacting
health, safety and environmental matters, with the
integration of policies mentioned in sections “Emissions”
and “Use of Resource”, the Group strives to minimise the
impacts to the environment and natural resources. The
principal business activities of the Group do not have a
significant impact on the environment and natural
resources.

Aspect A4: Climate Change

Climate change has caused frequent extreme weather and
has a major impact on business operations. Therefore, the
Group has formulated working mechanisms and
contingency plan to identify, prevent and mitigate climate
change issues that may have a significant impact. At the
same time, we would adjust the use of resources and
energy. In response to disasters and accidents that are
easily induced by extreme weather, we always enhance
the capability to the disaster response.

Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as
typhoons, heavy rain, thunder and lightning and flooding
that can cause physical acute risk. The potential
consequences include damage to documents, material,
equipment, buildings and even employees’ health and life.
The above potential consequences will cause economic
losses and increase operating costs to the Group.

BREE AL RS

EBHA3 : BERKXRER
AEBFBHE REIRE B THIREME
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NEP ZBBHEERNRREE  BE
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HRBERAARERNZE - ARENEER
BEBHRREMAAERLESATE -

BEAL : RIRZ1E
RIRB(CEBRmARIAHE - WHERBLE
EEBEBAFE - Bt AREHIE TIEHS
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BEXAFENRERBLEE - R - RALH
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ENRNERFR - RAARIER A ERERE
5 o

Y IE 21 R PR
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The Group has established different measures as below to AEBEHITUATNEERE  UBFLERZE
prevent and minimize the negative effect of extreme BRI R AR B -
weather,

Physical Acute Risk

YESHR R
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
i KR, FEBE R R IETE
Typhoons — Close doors and Windows with advance notice

— Move materials and equipment to safety areas in advance, or
covered with a tarp
— Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown

away
— Stop all outdoor work
AE — IRRIRAEEMNE

— BME GRS ZERE - KAKKNES
— DNIE R B R AE HO AR A K BRI
— EEMARIIIE

Heavy rain and Flooding — Clean up trash and make sure drains unblocked
— Maintain drainage equipment
— Reinforce equipment and components that may be washed

away
F/ RO — BN IR RERBEKEGE
— MEEBIKRE

— DNIE A B AE H AR A K BRI

Thunder and lightning — Keep good conditions of earthing devices
— Control travel and outdoor work before the arrival of lightning
— Remind employees to save data and turn off computers
ES) — REFEMEBENRIFMRRE
— PO RRAIESI BT RPN IIE
— RERESRTFEENHEFSK

==
==

Physical Chronic Risk Y B R B E R

The Group has identified extreme weather such as RERE 2 R FT 88 B B IR & HA R f ) AR oy
extremely hot weather can cause physical chronic risk. The AR PR RR - BEERBERPINK
potential consequences include an increased chance of BHEIEABRFRSLEREM  REAERT
getting heatstroke for employees working outdoor or in the S - TIERIBH R AT LA m -
workshop, increasing turnover rate and work-related EREERASEENE N FH KR EK A
injuries. The demand for cooling for the working e

environment will be increased, which may lead to an
increase in power demand and operating costs to the
Group.
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The Group has established different measures as below to
prevent and minimize the negative effect of extreme
weather,

BREE AL RS

AREBEHIEATTEEWR - A IEREE
AR R RNEEE o

Physical Chronic Risk

YR HE b

Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
Wi KR, FEBS R R AR R R
Extremely hot weather — Open windows to allow the air to circulate

— Keep a First-aid kit convenient

— Keep cold water available 24 hours a day
(= — ITHEFPREZRRB

— BHBEERE

— ERIEHERMLK
SOCIAL ASPECTS B. HEEM®
Aspect B1: Employment EmEB1 : EFE

We endeavour to use our best effort to attract and retain
appropriate and suitable personnel to serve our Group. Our
Group assesses the available human resources on a
continuous basis and will determine whether additional
personnel are required to cope with the business
development of our Group. The Group's staff handbook
sets out our standards for compensation and dismissal,
promotion and salary review, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity and other benefits and welfare. The
Group entered into separate labour contracts with each of
our employees in accordance with the applicable labour
laws of Hong Kong.

We generally recruit our employees through placing
advertisements in the open market with reference to
factors such as their experience, qualifications and
expertise required for our business operations. They are
normally subject to three months' probation period starting
on board. The remuneration package our Group offered to
our employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash
subsidies and Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"). In
general, our Group determines employee salaries based on
each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. Qur
Group has designed an annual review system to assess the
performance of our employees, which forms the basis of
our decisions with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses
and promotions. We believe that the above arrangement
can maintain good relationship with our employee.

BRESAE RS REREE REBEAT
REEERY - AEEFBEFHAIRANE
R WEEREFEEEAFUELEAEE
FHER - ARENE TFMEIIRMBRE
AR BT REFMmE - TR
R FEREGUAREMBETERENIRE -
AEERBEEZBEMAS DEIRELEER]
MERNBTEH

BHA—RBENRDAMSRMESHERE
B ER2REMEBLEMTHLR B
ERBENFSHE - EE—HRAB ARE
BEX=ZEAZAY - AREREB RN
MreaaRie A - HtRemi kA
HHEAES ((BEE]) -  AEEETBENE
FEEMERE BUNFEAETREEHE
AEECHEFREEZRR  BIFHAESR
RRUBREFERBHF AR  EARET
IRFAELE - LAIAE - Ll LB AR
B RIFBRE -
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During the Reporting Period, there were no material non- RSB - WEHHAEENEEENE
compliances regarding employment brought against the REREREBNR -

Group or its employees.

Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees by gender, UTNAR-_E-_—F+-_A=+—A8Kk=ZF
age group and employment category as at 31 December —EE+ A=+ RAKRER - FRRARR
2021 and 31 December 2020: EEENESHEERME
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTREF
Number of % of  Number of % of
staff Total staff Total
ET-PN- HEANE
BT AH Bok ETIAHY Ao
By Gender R R
Male Efs 58 87 70 85
Female pegca 9 13 12 15
Total @t 67 100 82 100
By age group B R
30 or below 30BRA T 16 24 26 32
31-40 312 405% 24 36 29 35
41-50 41 2 505% 11 16 9 11
51 or above 51504 £ 16 24 18 22
Total @t 67 100 82 100

By employment category  Z{ERIER

Senior management SREEE 7 11 7 9
Middle management FRAREIRE 13 19 15 18
Normal @ 47 70 60 73
Total FEE 67 100 82 100
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employee turnover
rate by gender and age group during the Reporting Period
and 2020:

BREE AL RS

AT AEMARREMA R —F —_FFRIER
K ERAER B DR EE MK RAMA

2021 2020
% of total % of total

ERABESLE ERARESH

Turnover rate by gender RUEREDNRRE

Male Xl 25 79
Female eg i 38 32
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
% of particular % of particular
category category
S EE R HEEER
Aol BA

Turnover rate by age group EFRAER B 2 R AR
30 or below 30T 48 133
31-40 31E 407 19 41
41-50 A E505% 20 50
51 or above 515A E 18 54

Our employees employed under our major subsidiaries of
the Group are located in Hong Kong.

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

We place emphasis on occupational health and work safety
during the delivery of our services as it is our concern not
to put our employees, our subcontractors and the general
public in hazards. Insurance policies purchased can cover
and protect our employees in the office and construction
site. We have also adopted an occupational health and
safety manual as required by relevant occupational health
and safety laws, rules and regulations under the
supervision of our project directors.

Our key occupational health and work safety measures are
set out below:

—  Effective promotion and communication of safety
procedures are maintained through, among others,
establishing safety bulletin and detailed record of
accident statistics, holding regular internal and
external safety meetings, documenting safety
measures and issues identified for each project by
preparing safety reports and training records;

BAXERAEEEENBERRNEELR
B o

EBEB2 :: REHEZ2
HMERREHRGSOBRERER TIER
i RS EE HBERERANTREERE
o FRAPIILEE MR B 2 SR AT (R B N AR &
’“*&iﬂzﬁa’ﬂﬁa o M BB E
R RETEAE - RBRIER AR E R 408
HEERMLTEES|  THIBRAEEFEE -

ATHEHINB P EENBRERRER TIELEE
it :

— BBREBER)RILELENFE
R BN Rt RD 8% - E AR TR EB R Sh
ML2EH LWEERELZEZWRENR
FIICHL TR EERENL2ERK
PREBRNMEE  EMARERLRES
ZEIEF
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—  We regularly attend safety training organised by the
main contractors of the projects, typically covering
safety procedures for performing different types of
work, first aid training, safety procedures for
emergency and duties and procedures for reporting
hazards, incidents, accidents and diseases, and good
housekeeping of workplaces;

— All workers on site, including subcontractors’
employees, are required to follow the general safety
rules adopted by the main contractor of the relevant
project which are communicated to the workers
before they commence work and posted on
prominent notice boards on site. Workers who breach
any such rules will be subject to internal disciplinary
actions;

—  We designate a member of the project team who has
the relevant qualifications as our safety supervisor for
each of our projects. Risk assessments are generally
conducted by the relevant safety supervisor to
identify the potential hazards and accidents and
provide suggestion on proper preventive measures
prior to commencement of works,

— Site inspections are carried out at least once every
two weeks by our project director to ensure strict
compliance with the statutory occupational health
and safety laws, rules and regulations; and

—  Specific safety measures in relation to, among others,
emergency, working at height, safe operation of
machinery and reporting of hazards and accidents
are communicated with workers and documented in
details.

During the Reporting Period, no cases of work-related
injuries and fatalities are recorded. There was no non-
compliance of significant case in relation to laws and
regulations for health and safety, and therefore no lost days
due to injury was resulted. Our Group did not have any
incidents of work-related injuries and fatalities for the latest
3 financial years including the Reporting Period.
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Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Group recognises the importance of training for the
development of our employees as well as our Group. We
provide various types of trainings to our employees,
including those on occupational health and safety in
relation to our work as mentioned in aspect “B2: Health and
Safety” in this Report. Such trainings include our internal
training as well as courses organised by external parties
such as the Construction Industry Council and the
Occupational Safety and Health Council in Hong Kong. We
believe it is a win-win approach for achieving both
employee and corporate goals as a whole.

Below is a detailed breakdown of the percentage of trained
employees by gender and employment category during the
Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2020:

BREE AL RS

FEEB3 : &R RIE
AREBRAF NG R IER RAK BB R
BE2% - HfIREERHSEEN - A
BEEMmIB2: @EERE] B ARM
TRENBERERZ2E - BRAEIERE
NEEIARRERZE RBERE L 2@
B E SN R AR AR AR o TRPIAEME - 1t
BNERBTREXEERAFENERTA -

(EREIDSE S I

4 -
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECERF
% of total % of total

ERABESEE ERABRESL

By Gender RIER

Male Xl 21 26
Female fogid 11 B
2021 2020
=B —F —ECTEF
% of particular % of particular
category category
S EE R ERERER
=R Btk

Employee trained by employment REBERNESHNZIES

category

Senior management SRERERE 57 86
Middle management FRERE 8 40
General il 17 3
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The average training hours for employees by gender and
employment category during the Reporting Period and the

corresponding period in 2020 are as follows:

BN mERER S FRIERER R
EBERIE D & 8 FI95 IR 85 0
T~

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Hours per employee
BEEERH
By Gender
Male 5.00 1.05
Female 2.22 -
Training hour by employment REBERNESH
category
Senior management 34.29 6.21
Middle management 0.27 0.93
General 1.41 0.27

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group is fully aware that child labour and forced labour
violate fundamental human rights and also pose threat to
sustainable social and economic development. The Group
strictly complies with the Employment Ordinance and other
relevant labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The
Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour.
Employment contracts and other records, documenting all
relevant details of the employees (including age) are
maintained properly for verification by relevant statutory
body upon request. During the recruitment process, the
Group would verify the actual age of the applicants by
checking their identity documentations and other records
to avoid hiring any child labour. If any violation is
discovered, it will handle it in a serious manner, depending
on the actual situation, it will be handled in accordance

with national and local laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with
policies and relevant laws and regulations regarding

prevention of child labour or forced labour.

[EE B4 : & T %A
AEBERMETRRASTRILESARE
MEAHELE REBERRBUEE - A%
EERETRBRBGIILAMERS X
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group works closely with its subcontractors and
suppliers who are committed to high quality,
environmental, health and safety standards. Policies and
procedures for selection and evaluation of subcontractors
and suppliers are established for staff to follow. New
subcontractors and suppliers are accessed with established
criteria for comparison purpose. We carefully evaluate the
performance of our subcontractors and suppliers and
select them based on a range of factors that are stated in
the relevant policies and procedures. We maintain a list of
approved subcontractors and suppliers which is updated
according to our assessment of their performance on a
continuous basis.

We had over 17 major subcontractors and over 12 suppliers
in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. We evaluate our
subcontractors and suppliers base on a number of factors,
including their technical strengths, product quality, quality
control effectiveness, pricing, core management team,
credit rating, size, reputation, environmental, health and
safety standards. Apart from product quality, delivery time
and service quality, we evaluate if the suppliers and
subcontractors consider the environmental and social
criteria including the prohibition on the recruitment of child
and forced labour, eliminating discrimination to employees,
providing a safe working environment, considering if the
products and services provided are beneficial to
environmental protection and fulfilling the Group's internal
environmental requirement while minimizing the negative
impact to natural environment, and strictly obeying the law.
We also conduct annual evaluations on our suppliers and
subcontractors.

During the Year, the Group is not aware of any major
suppliers having any significant impact on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights and labour
practices, nor did any of them have any material non-
compliances in respect of human rights issues.

BREE AL RS
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Quality control on projects

The Group is liable for the works carried out by us and our
subcontractors. We ensure that each project is completed
in accordance with the specifications set out for the
project. Our project directors closely monitor the progress
of each project to ensure that our services (i) meet our
customer’s requirements; (i) are completed within the time
stipulated in the contract and the budget allocated for the
project; and (iii) comply with all relevant rules and
regulations. Our project directors will monitor overall work
quality and project progress and perform on-site
inspections and supervise site workers regularly. Our
project directors will timely inform our executive Directors
of the project status and any quality issues arising from
project execution. The Group’s insistence on quality was
recognised, and the Group was awarded the 1ISO9001:2015
guality management system certification. We hold
management review meetings regularly to review
operations resources, follow up on customers’ feedback
and complaints, and identify areas for improvement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
material service-related complaints and there are
significant no cases of product recalls.

Materials and consumables

We closely monitor the quality of materials and
consumables we purchase. Our procurement staff will
ensure that they are sourced from our approved list of
suppliers. We conduct quality control checking on HVAC
systems and other types of materials and consumables we
procured prior to applying them for installation to ensure
the quality of the materials and consumables used in our
project. Such quality control checking typically involves: (i)
whether the quantity is correct; (ii) whether there is any
observable defect; and (iii) whether it functions normally.
Any defective products or products that fall short of the
product specifications would be returned to the suppliers
for replacement. Our customers would also inspect the
materials used by us at work sites and verify the
specifications from time to time.
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Subcontractors and workers

We may be liable to our customers for the performance of
our subcontractors and we may also be liable to any
potential employee compensation claims and personal
injuries claims made by our or our subcontractors’
employees arising from work injuries that may happen from
time to time, in order to ensure that our subcontractors
comply with the contractual requirements and the relevant
laws and regulations, we require our subcontractors to
follow our internal control measures in relation to quality
control safety and environmental compliance. Our project
directors conduct regular site inspections to ensure general
compliance by our own workers as well as our
subcontractors in quality, safety and environmental
requirements. During project implementation, our project
team regularly meets with our subcontractors and closely
monitors their work progress and performance as well as
their compliance with our safety measures and quality
standards.

In order to achieve high quality in each aspect of our
operation, we rely on our management team which has
extensive industry knowledge and project experience in the
HVAC engineering and services market in Hong Kong. Our
members of senior management have over 20 years of
experience in the HVAC engineering and services market.
Their experience and extensive knowledge in this market
enable our Group to enjoy in-depth understanding of the
local market dynamism and industry practice. Our technical
team, in particular, our project directors who are assisted
by a team of experienced project management staff, have
over 10 years of experience in the E&M engineering works
industry. Our directors and senior management possess
substantial experience, industry insight, technical skills and
knowledge and project management experiences to lead
and execute high quality works for sizeable projects with
stringent project requirements, which serve as our major
competitive edge over other market players, bringing
custom knowledge and commitment to quality have been
and will continue to be our Group’s valuable assets and
strive our Group towards greater success.

For our quality control measure over our subcontractors
and suppliers, please refer to aspect “B5: Supply Chain
Management” in this Report for further details.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant disputes
between our Group and our customers in respect of the
quality of work performed by us or our subcontractors.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group protects its intellectual property rights by
registration of domain names in Hong Kong. Such domain
name is renewed upon its expiration. The Group
understands and complies with the intellectual property
("IP") rights related regulations. During the Reporting
Period, there was no material infringement of the IP rights
and the Group is confident that all reasonable measures
have been taken to prevent any infringement of its IP rights
and the IP rights of third parties.

Data protection and privacy policies

Employees are generally required to follow the
confidentiality clause as stated in the staff handbook and
employment contract, which requesting employees not to
disclose any trade secret or other confidential information
concerning the business or affairs of our Group except for
the benefit of the Group with further authorization. All
customers’ or suppliers/subcontractors’ confidential
information is only accessible to employees who are
responsible for the corresponding project. Without the
permission of the related customers or suppliers/
subcontractors, the Group will not provide any confidential
information to any cooperative partners so as to maximise
the security of data for customers, suppliers and
subcontractors.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters regard to products and services
provided by the Group during the Reporting.
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Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

To ensure operation efficiency and employees’
development in a fair and honest working environment, the
Group has formulated whistleblowing policy to avoid
suspected corruption and provided channel such as by
letter, meeting, email or phone call for employees to report
suspected corruption. If there are any suspected case
related to corruption, employees are encouraged to report
the related cases through the mentioned channels. All
these practical actions not only win the trust of customers,
but also enhance the sense of belonging and fair play
among our employees. During the Reporting Period, the
Group organized trainings on anti-corruption for directors
and staff to strengthen the relevant management on the
prevention, implementation and oversight of anti-
corruption measures in the Group.

The Group has been in strict compliance with law and
regulation related to anti-corruption. During the Reporting
Period, there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed
to understanding the needs of the communities in which
we operate. The Group strives to develop long-term
relationship with our stakeholders and seek to make
contributions to programmes that have a positive impact
on community development. Labour needs, health and
culture will be the focus areas of our community
investment strategy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has made donation
of HK$73,000 to certain local charitable organizations in
order to support the sustainable development of the
community (2020: HK$179,000).
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THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG EABSXZMARATKIRIE  #
LIMITED’S ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND EFRERIERES)
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE  EEH- - —REBERBRENER =6 BR
Environmental
b:-$: 1
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1: HEBY
General Disclosure Information on: “Emissions” 39-42
—RIEE [ e )
(@ the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BRABERNOREREBHE - /K& a5
G BEREEEEYNEESY
@ X%k
(b)) BFHETAEEATENEBEEZR
HRBEER
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective “Emissions” 42
BREMIEEAL emissions data. [ )

BER TR AR S ARRR B EBUR -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE - -EFEH —REERBRERES E=4: 0] BIR
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions(in tonnes) and, “Emissions” 42
BRREMIEEZEAL2 where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of [ e ]

production volume, per facility).
BEREATNE CAMEETE) R (ER) &
E(ABESEN - BIEFRETE) o

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions” 40
BRREMIEEZEALS appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of [ e )

production volume, per facility).

FRIEXEEREYDRESE (UEEE) R (@Es)

RE(WNBESSN - BIEFRETE)

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in “Emissions” 40
RRENIEEALL tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. [ e )

per unit of production volume, per facility).

FrEEEEREEYEE (LIEETE) R (EA)

RE(MASESEN - BIERMEE) ©

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps “Emissions” 41
BREMIEZEALS taken to achieve them. [ e )

F T L BN E B R R RER B B IR

RN 2R
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- “Emissions” 41
BRENIEZEALG hazardous wastes are handled, and a [ e |

description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE  EH- - —REBERBREENIER =8 BIX
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2: EREA
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources. “Use of Resources” 42-44
—REE including energy, water and other raw [&REA

materials.

BREAER(BEEIR « K EEARMED 89

R o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by “Use of Resources” 43
BARENIEEA2.1 type (e.g, electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh) [&RERA

and intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).
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golm) BiEE (UTERFE) REE (UE

EE8A - BIERBIE) -
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. “Use of Resources” 43
BRREMIEEZEA2.2 per unit of production volume, per facility). [&RERA

i kERTE (WNEBESEN - BIERIE

FE) -
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) “Use of Resources” 44
BAREMIEEZEA2.3 set and steps taken to achieve them. [&IREA

FI BT L HREIRE ARG B E R AEDELL

B iZFTERE Ay S8R o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in “Use of Resources” 44
BARENIEEA2.4 sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water [&IREA

efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to

achieve them.
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KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished “Use of Resources” 44
BREMISEA2.5 products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with [&IREA
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TESE B —REERBERENIEE =1 BR

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BHEA3: BRERARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant “The Environment 45
—RIEE impact on the environment and natural and Natural
resources. Resources”
mfﬁﬁﬁ/\ﬁiaiﬁ&%%éfﬁa_ﬁijiwE B RBERARAEIR]
R
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of “The Environment 45
BRENIEZEA3A activities on the environment and natural and Natural
resources and the actions taken to manage Resources”
them. RIRARAER]

WX RDHRERRRERNERTZER
ERNEEERTENTTE

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[BHE A4 : RIZEL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of “Climate Change” 45-47
—RIEE significant climate-related issues which have E= =Ll

impacted, and those which may impact, the

issuer.

BRINEH KRR AL HETAELETYED
BEAREMEBEENERE

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related “Climate Change” 45-47
BARENIEEAL issues which have impacted, and those which [RixZ1t ]

may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken

to manage them.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE  EH- - —REBERBREENIER =8 BIX
Social
e
Aspect B1: Employment
[BEB1 : EfE
General Disclosure Information on: “Employment” 47-48
—RIEE [EE ]
(@ the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare.
BRI GRE  BREEA  TERS - &
H - FE#EE - 2ot - RIERAREARGS
KAgney -
@ BEREH: R
(b)) BFHETAEEATENEBEZR
BB ER
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type “Employment” 48
BEREMIEEB1 (for example, full-or part-time), age group and [MEfE]
geographical region.
LR - RIBEER (2 BEEGRE) - T8R!
K@ E 5D afE S B -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group “Employment” 49
FABENIEEB1.2 and geographical region. [MEfE]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE - -EFEH —REERBRERES E=4: 0] BIR
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
BEB2 : REHEZ2E
General Disclosure Information on: “Health and Safety” 49-50
—MRiRE [fERREZ 2 |
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
EARBLZ2TIERBERIRE RSB RBEN
fEE
@ BEREH: R
(b)) BFHETAEEATENEBREZR
RO E RS o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities “Health and Safety” 50
BRREMIEEB2.1 occurred in each of the past three years [ FEmZ 2
including the reporting year.
BE=F(BRHEFE)BFAITHNAR
R o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. “Health and Safety” 50
BRERIEEB2.2 ATHEATERH - [fERRE 2 2 |
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety” 49-50
R EMIEIEB2.3 measures adopted, and how they are [fEREZT 2]

implemented and monitored.
HA P ER AN R R A 2 2 48 B - A S B
HMITRERTE -

63



Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / 75 A 42 [ (25t ) A B 2 5

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI - e KRB R

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE  EH- - —REBERBREENIER =8 BIX
Aspect B3: Development and Training
BEB3 : #ERIEI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge “Development and 51-52
—RIE and skills for discharging duties at work. Training”

Description of training activities. [ZE sl

ERARAEERIT TERENANE IR

o FHUMIETIEE o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by “Development and 51
BAREMIEEB3.1 gender and employee category (e.g. senior Training”

management, middle management). [ R KEdl]

BRI REEER (NEAERE  hREE

B)EomXIEEETDLL -
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per “Development and 52
R EMIEIEB3.2 employee by gender and employee category. Training”

ZERREEERED  BREETHEIN [BEREEI

RS o
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T E&H
General Disclosure Information on: “Labour Standards” 52

—RNE
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(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,

relating to preventing child and forced labour.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE  EH- - —REBERBRENER =8 BR
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment  “Labour Standards” 52
BRREMIEEBAA practices to avoid child and forced labour. [4 T8 |

R R B A R iE AR R E T o884

T o
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such “Labour Standards” 52
AR EMIEIEB4.2 practices when discovered. [44 T #8] |

IR 2 R IE N R R A BB PR AY

s
Operating Practices
&EEH
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
fEEB5 : LEEHEERE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social ~ “Supply Chain 53
—RIEE risks of the supply chain. Management”

EEHEREARRREERBEBUR [fHpE s |
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. “Supply Chain 53
BARENMIEEBS.1 iR E S HHEEREE o Management”

[ pEsEE e |

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging “Supply Chain 53
FARENIEIEBS5.2 suppliers, number of suppliers where the Management”

practices are being implemented, and how [HtrEEEIE

they are implemented and monitored.

B AR REENED - mERITERE

BIE L ER R - ARMBESITRERTTE -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify “Supply Chain 53
BERENIEIEBS.3 environmental and social risks along the supply ~ Management”

chain, and how they are implemented and [T

monitored.

A EEAEEESEREFIREREER
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KPI B5.4 Description of practices used. “Supply Chain 53
BARENIEEBS.4 it pr FAE B o Management”
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE - -EFEH —REERBERERERS E=4:0] BR
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
BHEB6 : ERERE
General Disclosure Information on: “Product 54-56
—RIE Responsibility”
(@ the policies; and [EmAT]
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labeling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods
of redress.
BHMBHEMNRBHRERZE 58 -
BEELEEEARER T ED -
@ BERER: R
() BFHETAEEATENEBEEZR
BOIE B o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped “Product 54
FARENIEIEB6.1 subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.  Responsibility”
EERCELAEMREPEALREERERT [EmET]
AGQERIBADL -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related “Product 54
FARENIEIEB6.2 complaints received and how they are dealt Responsibility”
with. [EmE1E]
BRBNEmKIREHRFE R AREEH S
Vo
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing “Product 56
BARENIEIEB6.3 and protecting intellectual property rights. Responsibility”
e B 4 o AR AR E A Bl - [EmET]
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and “Product 54-55
BRENIEEB6.4 recall procedures. Responsibility”
HE S E AR R EARRERF [EmET]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE  EH- - —REBERBRENER =8 BR
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and “Product 56
A EMIEIZEB6.5 privacy policies, and how they are Responsibility”

implemented and monitored. [EmAE]

B ERMRE RALRBOR - A RAAEH
TRERETE-

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : RKES

General Disclosure Information on: “Anti- Corruption” 57
—MRiRE [RET]
(@  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer,

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRAPILLARRE - R - MEFRBAREA -
@ BEREH &

b) BTHBETABERTZENHEBEIER
HPIWEH -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding “Anti- Corruption” 57
BAREMIEEB7.1 corrupt practices brought against the issueror [ &35

its employees during the reporting period and

the outcomes of the cases.

R E BRI BEITASEREERETEEEN

BT HRARMNEE RFAGER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and “Anti- Corruption” 57
BRRENIEEB7.2 whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are &R &35

implemented and monitored.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TEHE  EH- - —REBERBREENIER =8 'R
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided  “Anti- Corruption” 57
FARENIEEB7.3 to directors and staff. [RES]
HumESERE TIRENRESET -
community
HE
Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEBS : #tBIRE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to “Community 57
—RIEE understand the needs of the communities Investment”
where the issuer operates and to ensure its [ttEREE ]
activities take into consideration the
communities, interests.
BRI RSB T BREEIT NS EREMNLER
FENBREEB TS EZ BRI
% °
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community 57
FAREMISIEBS.1 environmental concerns, labour needs, health,  Investment”
culture, sport). [ttEEE ]
EIEREEHE REEE  HIFK
f2fz -~ X{b - 88F) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to “Community 57
FARENIEIEBS.2 the focus area. Investment”
FEETHEFEAER (NS EELEH) [HEEE ]
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has been adamant in upholding high standards of
corporate governance to maximize operational efficiency,
corporate values and shareholder returns. The Company has
adopted and applied the principals of the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company will continue to
upgrade internal control system, strengthen risk control
management and reinforce the corporate governance structure.

The Company has complied with the code provisions and, where
appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices set out
in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors
regarding the compliance with the Model Code. All Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of
this report, the Board comprises:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

The Board’'s composition demonstrates a balance of core
competence with regard to the business of the Group so as to
provide effective leadership and the requisite expertise to the
Group. The executive Directors and senior management of the
Company have extensive management experience in the
Company’s business.
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The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 16 to 21 of this
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group,
is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the overall
management of the business, including establishing and
overseeing the Group’s strategic development, business plans’
financial objectives, capital investment proposals, and assumes
the responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group. The
Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing its business strategies and managing the daily
operations of the Group’s business to the executive Directors
and members of senior management.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated.

The two positions are held separately by two individuals to
ensure their respective independence, accountability and
responsibility. Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (“Mr. Tony Cheung") is
the chairman of the Board and Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau (“Mr.
Gary Cheung") is the chief executive officer of the Company.
Mr. Tony Cheung is in charge of the management of the Board
and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Gary Cheung is
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s
business. The Company considered that the division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
is clearly established.

Board Meetings

The Board meets approximately quarterly and on other occasions
when warranted by circumstances. During the year ended 31
December 2021, the Board held four meetings. Notice for regular
Board meetings are given to each Director at least fourteen days
prior to the meeting whereby the Directors can put forward their
proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and the relevant
Board papers are then circulated to the Directors three days
before the Board meeting in order to enable the Directors to
make informed decisions. For other Board meetings, reasonable
notices are given.
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In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision A.2.7
of the Listing Rules, the chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the non- executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) without the executive
Directors present (the “Chairman and Non-executive
Directors Meeting"). During the year, one Chairman and Non-
executive Directors Meeting was held.

Number of meetings and Director’s attendance

Details of the Directors’ attendance at the meetings of the Board,
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and the Chairman and Non-executive
Directors Meeting held during the year are set out below:

R B IRHRE

REHEFTEEHI  RELEMRRTAIEX
A27 EREELBERUTEFTEFENERLT
EIHTER(RIEEFTER ) BTeR( X
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Chairman and

Audit Remuneration Nomination Non-executive
Board Committee Committee Committee Directors
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
FEH
EZgel BNZESEE PMZEeeE REZESSR FuNEZER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung RITALE 474 N/A RiE N/A i N/A R 11
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau RITMAEE 474 N/A RiE N/A i A N/A R N/A RNER
Independent non-executive Directors BV FHTES
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson YIRELE 474 2/2 1/1 1" 11
Mr. LAU Yu Ching BT xAE a/4 202 17 11 111
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson EERLE 474 2/2 1 1 11
Relationship amongst Directors EEENREE

Save for (i) Mr. Tony Cheung is the brother of Mr. Gary Cheung
and (i) on 12 March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and Mr. Gary Cheung
entered into the concert party deed to acknowledge and confirm,
among other things, that they are parties acting in concert; the
Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term. Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association,
one-third of the Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting at least once every three years.
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Independence of Independent non-executive Directors

In determining the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors, the Board follows the guidelines as set out in
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and concluded that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Each Director receives a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction package to ensure that he understands the business
and operations of the Group and is sufficiently aware of his
responsibility and obligation under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are kept informed on the developments of the
statutory and regulatory regime, and the changes in the business
markets so as to facilitate them to fulfil their responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Continuing briefings and professional development
for Directors will be arranged by the Company when considered
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, according to the
records provided by the Directors, the individual training record
of each Director received for the year is summarised below:

BYFHTESHNBIYM
REERUIFAITEFTHB LR  EFSEK
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BBUIEMTESRRE EHARREII3EE LD
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MISNEE - KM FET LR R MR
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B EREERHNRE R EXEREY -

BHE-Z-_—F+_A=+—HILFE REE
SRHEMLE  SEENFREIWNERFIIR
SRR

Attending training
courses/seminars/
reading materials
relevant to the
director’s duties

HEREERE

BRNEIIERRE

Hate BEM

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung SRTHE A v
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau SRITR A v
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson TiRmEst v
Mr. LAU Yu Ching B IE S A& v
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson BETRTE v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”), a remuneration committee (the "Remuneration
Committee”) and a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) in June 2018 (collectively, the “"Board
Committees”). The term of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. Members of the Board Committees are provided with
sufficient resources to fulfil their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expense.

Audit Committee
The current members of the Audit Committee are:

Mr. LAU Yu Ching (Chairman)
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors who possess sufficient accounting and
financial management expertise and relevant experience to fulfil
their duties.

The Audit Committee serves as a focal point of communication
between the Directors, the external auditors and the internal
auditors with regards to their duties relating to financial and other
reporting, internal controls, external and internal audits and
assisting the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing
independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the internal controls of
the Group, and as to the adequacy of the external and internal
audits.

During the year, two Audit Committee meetings were held, inter
alia, to review the 2020 annual results and the 2021 interim
results of the Group. The attendance records are set out under
the section headed "Number of meetings and Directors’
attendance” in this report.

Remuneration Committee
The current members of the Remuneration Committee are:

Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson (Chairman)
Mr. LAU Yu Ching
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson
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All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board in relation to the
remuneration packages and benefits of the Directors and the
senior management of the Company to ensure the relevant
individuals are fairly rewarded in light of their contribution to the
Company with reference to their performance, and that they
receive suitable incentives to maintain high standards of
performance and to improve the Group's and their own
performance. In connection with the review of the remuneration
package, no Director shall be involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held, inter alias, to review the
Company’s remuneration policies, remuneration structure and
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Company. The attendance records are set out under the
section headed “Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance”
in this report.

Remuneration paid to senior management
Remuneration paid to senior management of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2021 by band are as follows:

FHEZEEeMEEKEBHIRELIFNTES

FHEZEETZAARISEFTRAAASRER
ABHFMTAREN YA EFSRLEZ
& BREBALNSENRAREARFNE
BIESAFHM L EE SR LERHSRENEK
BUARREAREEREEE MR - SR #H
MrBms  EFXLT2EETBSNHH -

BE_Z-_—F+-A=+—HBILFE  FMHE
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HOEGK EERALDFSNEE A BFBR
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EFEhFEBR] —f-

IR FEREEAENETMH
HE-_ZEZ-—F+-A=1+—HItFE IHN&F
NAREREREAEMNFMEELT ¢

Number of staff

ETHH
HK$nil — HK$1,000,000 T T2 1,000,00078 7T 3
Nomination Committee REZEE
The current members of the Nomination Committee are: RAHLZEEHAKERT
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson (Chairman) BERSTE(ERE)
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson TR A
Mr. LAU Yu Ching UM IE AL

All members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

74

RAZEBENEINEYRBIUIFNTES °



Annual Report 2021/ & " —4E4EH;

Corporate Governance Report

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for, amongst
other things, (i) reviewing the Board's diversity policy and the
measurable objectives set by the Board for implementing the
Board's diversity policy annually, and making recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board according to
the Company's corporate strategy; (i) making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors; (i) identifying individuals
suitable to be qualified as Board members; (iv) assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors annually;
and (v) deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has
adequately carried out his duties as a Director.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy setting out the
approach to the diversification of Board members since 2018.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirement of the Company’s business. All
Board appointment will continue to be made on a merit basis
with due regards for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be
made upon the merits and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held, inter alias, to review the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and to consider,
nominate and recommend the appointment and re-appointment
of Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has carried out its duties and responsibilities as set
out in the CG Code including (i) the development of policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) monitoring the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conduct applicable to the
employees of the Company and the Directors; and (iv) reviewing
compliance of the Company with the CG Code and the disclosure
in this report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and that of the results and cash
flows in the relevant financial year. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies, applied them
consistently in accordance with appropriate International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting
Standards and the related interpretations, and made adjustments
and estimates are prudent and reasonable.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Directors,
having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

The responsibilities of the external auditors to the Shareholders
are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 80 to 87 of this annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the Company’s auditor, KPMG, provided to the
Company its audit services in relation to the audit of annual
financial statements. The audit fee paid/payable to KPMG in
respect of the audit services provided was approximately
HK$880,000. There was no non-audit service provided by KPMG
during the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lo Wan Man has been appointed as the company secretary
of the Company (the “"Company Secretary”) since 9 April 2019.

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved by
the Board, is responsible in supporting the Board for ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the Board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary reports to
the Chairman on governance matters and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Group's affairs.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
Secretary had duly complied with the relevant training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Group recognises Shareholder’s rights in exercising control
proportionate to their equity ownership. As one of the measures
to safeguard Shareholders’ interest and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at the Shareholder’s meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of Director(s), for
Shareholder’s consideration and voting. All resolutions put
forward at Shareholders’ meeting will be voted by way of poll,
which is conducted and scrutinised by the Company’s share
registrar. Poll results are announced and posted on the website
of both the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written request to
the Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specify in such request; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the submission of
such request. If within twenty-one days of such submission the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, Shareholder(s)
may do so in the same manner.

Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board
in writing to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong or by email for the attention of the secretary of the
Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be
eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a
written notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person to
be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such
person for election and also a written notice signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office of the Company or at the share
registrar of the Company provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such written notice(s) are given, shall be
at least seven days and that (if the written notices are submitted
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election) the period for lodgment of such written
notice(s) shall commence on the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting. Accordingly, if a Shareholder duly qualified to attend
and vote at the general meeting of the Company wishes to
propose a person for election as a Director at the general
meeting, he/she can deposit a signed written notice of the
intention to propose a person for election as a Director and a
signed written notice by that person of his/her willingness to be
elected together with his/her particulars (such as qualification
and experience) and information as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules at the head office of the
Company at Room 1908, 19th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial
Building, Nos. 23-39 Pak Tin Par Street, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong or at the share registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong. The period for lodgment of
the notices required will commence no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date
of such general meeting, and the minimum length of the period
during which such notices to the Company may be given will be
at least seven days.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company (in both English and
Chinese) is available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. There is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December
2021.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective system of risk management and internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness, particularly in respect of the
controls of financial, operational, compliance and risk
management, to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the
Group's assets. The Board should ensure that review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems has been conducted at least annually.

The Group maintains its internal audit function with the
assistance of the Audit Committee and the management of the
Company. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board
has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group with the
assistance of the Audit Committee and the management of the
Company. The Board is satisfied that, based on the information
provided and on its own observation, the present risk
management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate for the nature and size of the Group’s operations and
business.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
3 7 A% BRI e o

Independent auditor’'s report to the shareholders of
Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man
Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 88 to 148, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2021 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

Independent Auditor’s Report
3 7 i LR e oy

FARELEE
RREZFSRDEMRBEEXAE - RAHEX
AR AMBERERRREENEH - ZEFRY
ERMERREMBRREBER I EREAREE
BT ERAEFETREHBLER

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Contract accounting estimates
EHEHET

BRBS A TEIE BB 20 B 20) A B4

Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(qg) and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter
BRETSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
KB ONAEEEREEE

The Group recorded revenue from the provision of air-
conditioning installation services in Hong Kong totaling
HK$121,672,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021.
BE_ZE-_—F+_A=+—RBILFE EEERES
HERBEEEERATERGENWAS H£5121,672,0008
T o

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time
using the cost-to-cost method based on the contract costs
to date as a percentage of total forecast costs. Contract
costs are recognised when work is performed, together
with any provisions for expected contract losses.
EHRWATHERBCARLL AL - 1RIZS R IEE KRR 4aTE
HARKZREY B 5 LU BE B 2 e RR - & AN E T T TR A
HERTEAI A KB R BV T B RER o

The recognition of revenue and profit therefore relies on
management’s estimate of the final outcome of each
contract, which involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, particularly in forecasting the
costs to complete a contract, in valuing contract variations,
claims and liquidated and ascertained damages, in
estimating the amount of expected losses and in assessing
the ability of the Group to deliver services according to the
agreed timetable.

Eitt - BERWA Sm KRB E IR E (L5 S IBE LR R 4
R EPSRELERNERAE - FFRIRTERE LTTHRK
K EHENEE  RERETHEELGE - HETEHE
BefE UK BESEREBTERBEARRERRENE
1 e

Our audit procedures to assess contract accounting
estimates included the following:
BB O FHEFHETNEZEF 81

e assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the contract revenue recognition processes;

o MEHENWMABRBRENBRANINEZSRT B
e BB VERAN

e discussing with management the performance of
contracts in progress during the year, on a sample
basis, and assessing the key estimates and
assumptions adopted in the forecasts for contract
revenue and contract costs, including estimated
costs to completion, the recognition of variation
orders and the adequacy of contingency provisions,
and the assessment of potential liquidated and
ascertained damages for contracts, by obtaining
and evaluating relevant information in connection
with the assumptions adopted, including contract
agreements and subcontracts, correspondence
with customers regarding contract variations and
claims and by considering historical outcomes for
similar contracts;

o FWREERIMEEMKABIXEENEN (BES
BB RO BEN BPBBEGHNEHRRENR
H)AREBRERBEUGOANELERRITAE
B DU T NEE R ENRmTRETHEONE
TIER - WETEAE WA R E KK AN R 2R R 1
T REFRIREE R - BEGT A - R
ERNEE  IABBENTEUEREEHNETEER
(EES R
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Contract accounting estimates (Continued)

BREEEE (&)

Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(q) and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements

FRBFA TR BB 20 R 200) 5 R 124

The Key Audit Matter
BEETSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RANETNNEEEHEER

We identified contract accounting estimates as a key audit
matter because the estimation of the total contract
revenue and total costs to complete contracts is inherently
subjective and requires significant management
judgement and estimation and because errors in forecast
of contract revenue and contract costs could result in a
material variance in the amount of profit or loss recognised
from contracts to date and, therefore, in current period.
HZMSENEETEERABRERSE  REAAME
BHRWAREHTRBRAREABEE N - BAZEEN
BEANEEEHE RGE - A RBERERTEANEGHOBAR
BHKANTRESBHCS BIEAERERTEB AR E L1
RERSRHEERERER -

obtaining a detailed breakdown of the total
estimated costs to completion for all contracts in
progress during the year and comparing, on a
sample basis, actual costs incurred to the reporting
date and future cost estimates with agreements,
certifications or correspondence with
subcontractors and suppliers and other
documentation referred to by management in its
assessment of the estimated costs to completion;
BEFRABEITRELHFT TR B ARFTE
B4R - W LA T N E E s B E £ ERAR
RARKRERME - BoREREEEIRE - RE
A BIR B AT (AR TR B AR B IR Al Y L Ath
SCHELLRR

for all projects in progress at the reporting date,
assessing the assumptions and critical judgements
made by management by comparing the key terms
and conditions in the assessments with contract
agreements with customers and by comparing
the estimated contract completion time with
the Group's updated progress report or
correspondence from customers;

BHmEANMAEITPIERME - @BLBNRTE
BEPEAMERNEZHRARGNE - WKEFTEL
TARRE SEESEMEEZREXNESBHIEL
B MEERBEDNBRRRERABELD T

comparing the contract revenue recognised for
contracts in progress during the year, on a sample
basis, with reference to the certifications received
for the customer, discussing with management for
any significant difference;

LAt A B NEITR S A BR S LA
BEREPEWMNRIELER - WHREREwmEM
BERAER
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Contract accounting estimates (Continued)
EREHEE (&)

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(qg) and Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements

AL A B RE RA I 20) K 2(0) A R 14

The Key Audit Matter
ARETSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RANETNNEEEHEER

e conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to observe
the progress of individual contracts, discussing with
site personnel the status of each projects and
evaluating whether the project progress was
consistent with the Group’s financial accounting
records;

o BB FABHRE  EMBRERENVNEE
I ELER 35 A B 5 am % (818 B ek A8 R AT (L 18 B #
EH BEEEMNMBEHESEE B

e performing a retrospective review of contracts
completed during the current year by comparing
the final outcome of the contracts with previous
budgets made for those contracts to assess the
reliability of the management's forecasting process;
and

e BMBAKANNGRERANUARZSANELR
TEEELLE - $ARFETRAE LT ERERE -
LAFHEERERARENTENE &

e inspecting a sample of contract agreements with
customers and subcontractors to identify key terms
and conditions, including the contract period, the
contract sum, the scope of work, and evaluating
whether these key terms and conditions had been
appropriately reflected in the total estimated
revenue and costs to complete in the forecast of
the outcome of the contracts.

s WMBEHEPRDBMEIIVAENIBEER - A
BRERRGEH(BIEGOE  640&8E - TEH
B) - WAHEZ SRR LR G R REE RN
B RERTEBE EEH AR A R TERRBCR e
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging

their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

B 7 A% 5 b e
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (coNnTINUED)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’'s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Maggie L.T. Lee.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2022

B 7 A% 5 b e

LU RAEFRGESMIEHRREAED

5Fw

HEZZESABNERT  RMABEHBEZEAN
MR BHRARAEENSEIR  AMBEKER
BERER RPN ZBMBREPHAZEFER
BIPERIERTAHARABBEZFTEE A
BiHFENBERT - HeEBEHRRANRSH
BBREFEKMNEERREBEEN ARG
A PPRE TN RETBBZER

HEAABY ZBERENEZRBABARTS

Vi
= o

EFRETEERAA
EAES - ia]

EEHE
7B 105
ATFRESE

—E-__F#=R=-+ANH

87



Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / 7 JIf 45 Bl (3% ) 45 FR 2 7]

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
7 17 16 A B il 4 v W 4 3R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) = —Z - —F+ - A=+—HB ILFE (ABTIIR)

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

Note $'000 $°000

it FiT For

Revenue A 4 121,672 127,588

Cost of services RR 7S A AR (100,709) (117,322)

Gross profit EX 20,963 10,266

Other income E bl A 5 1,997 6,836

Administrative expenses THRAX (25,102) (25,603)

Finance costs ZURI%N é(a) (83) (98)

Loss before taxation BREBIAIES 1B 6 (2,225) (8,599)

Income tax credit TSR 7(a) - 135

Loss and total comprehensive FREBERE2HE

income for the year Wz 4 ER (2,225) (8,464)
Loss per share (HK cents) SREE GBI 10

— Basis — HRK (0.22) (0.85)

— Diluted — s (0.22) (0.85)

The notes on pages 93 to 148 form part of these financial 2593 % 148 B ®IMIGHEAR AR iRz —HH ©
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
LA M EHIR L

As at 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =—Z = —&F+=-A=+—H (ABTIIR)

2021 2020
—E-—F T TF
Note $'000 $°000
it FiT For
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plantand equipment W% - #EEMEE 1 . 2,779 . 3,842
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 13 2,863 =
Trade and other receivables B 5N E M WG 14 60,743 53,297
Contract assets BHEE 15(a) 15,058 14,378
Pledged bank deposits DIEIRIBITIERK 16(e) 4,226 4,226
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFHERS 16(a) 85,826 92,638
R 168716 164,539
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5N E M B FIR 17 18,578 11,057
Contract liabilities AHEE 15(b) - 1,093
Lease liabilities HEBE 18 1,443 1,627
20020 13,777
Netcurrentassets ~  #®®B&EE¥E 148,695 150,762
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBEE 151,474 154,604
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e BRI

As at 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) A =—ZE = —&E+= A=+—8 (LB THIR)

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Note $'000 $°000
it FiT For
Non-current liabilities FkRBERS
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 564 1,469
. 0 A, 564 1469

Net assets EEFE 150,910 153,135

Capital and reserves EARRHE 21
Share capital A&z 10,000 10,000
Reserves 1 140,910 143,135
Total equity REREE 150,910 153,135

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson  EEE€R T - —F= A -+ L BHERFEET

29 March 2022. o
Cheung Yuen Tung Cheung Yuen Chau
RTE RIT
Director Director
EF g

The notes on pages 93 to 148 form part of these financial 93 B ZE 148 EMKIsHBR AT HikE —35 ©
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HaMEmEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &= T - —%F+ - A=+—B1I-EE B TIIR)

Share Merger Share  Retained Total
capital reserve  premium  earnings equity
R BOHRE RAEE RERA  BER4E
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fir Fr Fr Fr Fir

(Note 21(c)(ii) ~ (Note 21(c)(i))
(Bfzx210)0))  (BaE21(c)0)

At 1 January 2020 R-Z-Z5-A-8H 10,000 2,010 107,850 41,739 161,599

Changes in equity for 2020: ECCERREE.
Loss and total comprehensive FREELEZH
income for the year WaiagE - - - (8,464) (8,464)

At 31 December 2020 and R-EZEF

1 January 2021 +=BA=+—-8ARk
—E--%-fA—H 10,000 2,010 107,850 33,275 153,135
Changes in equity for 2021: “EC-FRREEE:
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZAREA
income for the year B - - - (2,225) (2,225)
At 31 December 2021 RZBE=—-F
+=ZA=+—-H 10,000 2,010 107,850 31,050 150,910

The notes on pages 93 to 148 form part of these financial 293 % 148 B MM s X KRBT Bk —# 5 °
statements.

91



Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / 75 A 42 [ (25t ) A B 2 5

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) & & —ZE - —F+=- A=+—H I EE B TIIR)

2021 2020
:g: - fﬁ R 7 [ E'E
Note $°000 $°000
btaF Fr Fr
Operating activities TR
Cash (used in)/generated from operations %%%f%f“ (FTR) /B8R &  16) (4,985) 577
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid B EEFEH - (2,274)
Net cash used in operating activities &&E®fARLFR (4,985 | (1,697).
Investing activities REETE
Payment for purchase of property, plant B E % - HENEEHD
and equipment (B (88) (385)
Proceeds from sale of property, plantand H&E ¥ - #22 & R EH
equipment FriSskIE 12 -
Addition in pledged bank deposits BRI IR TI7 5K 0 - (2,346)
Interest received BRI B 119 833
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with R Z/| & EI tﬂ_ﬂﬂ #9 5E Bf
original maturity over three months RO,/ (&) 20,000 (55,000)
Net cash generated from/(used in)  BREZFZEFRE (FrH)
__investing activites ReF® 20043 (56898)
Financing activities REEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHERENERISL D 16(c) (1,787) (1,530)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEERSHOMNEE S 16(c) (83) (92)
Interest paid [=ENEIES) - ©)
Net cash used in financing activities REZFBfiARLFHE (18700 | (1,628)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BEE&RBESZFYWEM,
cash equivalents Om2) F8 13,188 (60,223)
cash and cash equivalents at the FUNRESRESEEY
beginning of the year 37,638 97,861
Cash and cash equivalents at the end S XEERHALEEY
of the year 16(a) 50,826 37,638

The notes on pages 93 to 148 form part of these financial 293 % 148 B MM s A R 1k — 5
statements.
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fo o B 05 e o0 B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 2B #8ER4N » A THIR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of installation of heat,
ventilation and air-conditioning system (the "HVAC
Business”) in Hong Kong. The Company was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 11 April 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 July 2018 (the “Listing").

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASS"”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group are set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Bx 2 & +5834)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

94

(b)

()

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, rounded to the nearest thousand. The
measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

— Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16, Interest rate benchmark
reform — Phase 2

— Amendments to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-related
rent concessions
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 2B #8ER4N » A THIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
None of the developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s result and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is included in these
financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-
group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing these
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(g)(ii)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

96

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Note 2(g)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Shorter of 5
years or
unexpired
terms of lease

—  Leasehold improvements

—  properties leased for own use  Over the lease
terms

—  Furniture and fixtures 5years
Shorter of 5
years or over

the lease
terms

—  Computer and office equipment

—  Motor vehicles 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 27584 -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

U]

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on
a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

98

(f)

Leased assets (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(e)
and 2(g)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the
Group's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is
a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLS") on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables); and

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see Note 2(h)).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLS

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate
financial assets such as trade and other
receivables and contract assets are discounted
using the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof
where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

100

(continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (continued)
Measurement of ECLS (continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
based on the probability of default with
reference to available market information,
taking into account any credit enhancement
and, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at
the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument
since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset
is 90 days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

102

(continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)
Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument'’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income
Interest income recognised in accordance with
Note 2(g)(ii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor,

— abreach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
or

— the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
or contract asset is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

104

®
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Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that property, plant and
equipment including right-of-use assets may be
impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit). A portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset is
allocated to an individual cash-generating
unit if the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis, or to the
smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 374 $#58R4) -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)
(i) lmpalrment of other assets (continued)

(h)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. A reversal of an
impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 2(q)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(g)(i) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see Note 2())).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

106

(h)

0]

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see Note 2(q)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see Note 2())).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
Note 2(q)(ii)).

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of
production for such sale or in the form of materials or
supplies to be consumed in the production process
or in the rendering of services. Inventories are carried
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
calculated using the first in first out method and
comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal
0CCUrs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(k)

(U]

(m)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset (see Note 2(h)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see Note 2(2)(i).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECLS in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 2(9)().

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
the Group's accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see Note 2(q)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

108

(n)

(0)

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(0)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that
will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enabled at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(0) Income tax (continued)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the following additional conditions are met:

10

in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.

(p) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous
contracts

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous

contracts (continued)

(p)

(a)

(i)

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be
reimbursed by another party, a separate asset
is recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs
of meeting the obligations under the contract
exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of
continuing with the contract.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognises revenue when it transfers control over a
product or service to a customer. “Control” refers to
the customer’s ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from an
asset.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(q) Revenue recognition (continued)

12

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Contract revenue

Revenue of services transferred over time is
recognised progressively based on the contract
costs incurred to date as a percentage of total
forecast costs to depict the transfer of control
of the services to the customer. The Group
recognises revenue over time only if it can
reasonably measure its progress toward
complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation. However, if the Group cannot
reasonably measure the outcome but expects
to recover the costs incurred in satisfying the
performance obligation, then it recognises
revenue to the extent of the costs incurred.

Any unconditional rights to consideration are
presented separately as “Trade receivables”.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or 10ss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life
of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

n

(s)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties
(1) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

fo o B 05 e o0 B

LA AR

2 EXEHBR@®

n

(s)

BERAE

E?%EF%% ERALEEBE (R
PAE-—BEREHEHTAIZEHERTEA
BROENEE)NEERAE - VEXR

ERZEERAN—BD - HEE

AR E A HIRE S -

EELBEMAX EEBERARE
TEEEERRAEREXHEMBT
HEBIE - RBSIEERAER R
BERBEERAN—HD - EEAE
REEERREREHILERBFH

BAREDIEE T LT - B EK
FEEEFHIFLBETENRN -
BT

(M WEBATAL  BIZALHZEA
TR E A E AR

()  FEHSRHAREHIARE

(i) HAEBBEERTED:
B4

(i) RAEEHAEEF QT
TEEBEABEP K
8 o
2 RS EARN - BIZER
EAEEBRRE

() %EREASEHER-—
B ERR EERQ
CIRNGY-=FNCID IS =
N BRI A R

BAES—EEMNH
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Related parties (continued)

14

(s)

®

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (s)(1).

A person identified in (s)(1)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with

the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in these financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

(s)

(t)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(t)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES
Estimation uncertainty
The key assumption concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

(a)

Loss allowances on trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for ECL as prescribed by HKFRS
9, which requires the use of the lifetime ECL
allowance for all trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets. The loss allowance
for financial assets are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the loss allowance calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of reporting period. Management reassesses the
loss allowance at each reporting date.

fo o B 05 e o0 B
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116

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

Revenue recognition

As explained in Note 2(q), revenue and profit
recognition on a project is dependent on
management’s estimation of the progress of the
satisfaction of performance obligations of a
construction contract over time, measured by actual
contract costs incurred to date to estimate total
contract costs for the contract. Based on the Group's
recent experience and the nature of the construction
activity undertaken by the Group, the Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs and variation order, prepared for each
construction contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from time to
time provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers
and vendors involved and the experience of
management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management conducts periodic
reviews of the budgeted construction costs and
revises the budgeted construction costs as
appropriate.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs and variation work
which may have an impact on percentage of
completion of the construction contracts and the
corresponding profit taken. In addition, actual
outcome in terms of total revenue or costs may be
higher or lower than estimation at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustments to
the amounts recorded to date.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 2B #8ER4N » A THIR)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received or
receivable from the service contracts by the Group to
external customers. The Group's operation is solely derived
from HVAC Business in Hong Kong during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020. For the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the chief
operating decision maker reviews the overall results and
financial position of the Group as a whole. Accordingly, the
Group has only one single operating segment and no
further discrete financial information nor analysis of this
single segment is presented.

(a) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by timing of revenue recognition and type
of service are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers within
the scope of HKFRS 15

A K 5 88 & #
WA SR SR B BRAS & 10 B M S
FHRANLTE FRERTERABE
—FR-T-TE+-A=+—HILF
rma,m R ALY - RARSER
ROFEME FEMEREERHIEE
DB RHBRR - Bt - AEEER
—EAE—EEHE WY MEFHE—5
K — S BB B AR AT -

(@) WA#D
R ATEREE RGBS DEF
BHWAHRAB DT -

BEBUBHREERE 1S5 REENNEF
FEa#BA

2021 2020
—E-—F T _TF
$°000 $°000
FiT Fr
Disaggregated by timing of RIWABZEEASD
revenue recognition
Products transferred at a point intime A R FF R B8 0 E & 31,574 39,618
Services transferred over time BE 5825 /9 AR 7 90,098 87,970
121,672 127,588
Disaggregated by type of service 1% AR %5 28 Bl 4 2
Installation services only F IR 59,959 37,023
Installation services with HVAC systems  ZHRISER BT ALY
procurements R 61,713 90,565
121,672 127,588
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

18

(b)

()

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

The following tables include revenue expected to be
recognised in the future related to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

4 WARDEEN &)

(b)

TRENFENEENRZE

TRIAERNVN _ZE-_—FR-_ZT-ZF
F+-A=+—BAKREKX (D KE
) BB #9578 HA A5 73 oK 2R HE SR A
WA o

2021 —E-—F $’000
Fr
Remaining performance obligations expected EHEREZUTHERLEEER
to be satisfied during the year ending: ERNEISREHNEST
31 December 2022 2 F+=ZA=+—H 156,186
31 December 2023 2 =F+=-A=+—H 113,767
After 31 December 2023 —ZE-=F+-A=+—H#% 137,505
407,458
2020 T CFF $000
Fr
Remaining performance obligations expected EHEREZUTERLEEER
to be satisfied during the year ending: ERNEISREHNEST
31 December 2021 2 —F+=-A=+—H 95,079
31 December 2022 2 F+=-A=+—H 129,086
After 31 December 2022 —E-_F+-A=+—H#% 28,561
252,726
(c) HEER

Geographical information
The Company is an investment holding company and
the principal place of the Group's operation is in Hong
Kong. For the purpose of segment information
disclosures under HKFRS 8, the Group regards Hong
Kong as its place of domicile.

No geographical information is presented as the
Group is principally engaged in HVAC business in
Hong Kong.

ARRRREEBRAR MAKEEE
BREMHREL URBEBEEMB
HEERIEH/MBEOMERMS - &
SERBBRERABHE -

MR AEEEEREELEE BTN
LR R LR -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 2B 38885 + SUBITHR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4

(continued)

(d) Information about major customers
The Group’s customer base includes three (2020:
three) customers with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue. Revenue from
customers during the year ended 31 December 2021

WARDEBER &)

(d HFREEFEFHNEH
AEENEPRERE=_2(ZZ_F
FZR)XPEEAEERABBS
10%NEF -#HE-_FT—_—F+-A
St HLEFE HAKERKE

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the 10% A EREPIRET ¢
Group is as follows:
2021 2020
:g: —ﬂi — ? — E'E
$'000 $°000
Fr Fr
Customer A BEA 46,104 25,859
Customer B =FB 29,072 60,821
Customer C ®FC 18,817 16,416
5 OTHER INCOME Higlg A
2021 2020
—E—F ZE-TF
$'000 $°000
Fr Fr
Bank interest income IRITF BUA 153 926
Repair and other service income HEE N E b ARFS U 1,599 1,195
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWME - #BEX
equipment B0l € 12 50
Government grants — Employment Support BI#e— BESE
Scheme (note) FT &I (MaE) 116 3,824
Government grants — others BT B — E A 103 140
Sundry income I 14 701
1,997 6,836
Note: Biat
In 2020, the Group successfully applied for funding support of RIZT_TF  AEERIAEEFEBREN ZRE

$3,824,000 from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-
epidemic Fund, set up by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who would
otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group
is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to
spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. In 2021, the
Government further granted $116,000 subsidies to the Group.

& T Z IR EFT B HFEE £ 1% 83,824,000 7T © ;i%/f
BRERADEREMBER  WRBRAGHIE N E
T - REMPHSER  AEBTEHBBERNTEHE - I
BEFBEESANIMNEENTIE RZT=-_—F I
FEmAEBERE T 116,000 TS -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 2H188R4N - LAETHIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 6 PMRBiIAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: B FH BT ) TN A T R IE18 5
2021 2020
B —F —T_TF
$'000 $°000
Fr Fr
(@) Finance costs (a) mME/RK
Interest on bank overdrafts RITEZFIE - 6
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGBRE 83 92
83 98
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EIRAX(BEEEMS)
emoluments)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHAMETR 31,440 30,700
Contributions to defined TE B RGRINGT 81451
contribution retirement plan 1,013 1,070
32,453 31,770
(c) Otheritems (c) HtEH
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and —BENYE  BEX
equipment B 217 315
— right-of-Use assets —(EREEE 1,632 1,485
1,849 1,800
Loss allowance on trade and other B 5 Kk H AWK R B
receivables B - 1,039
Auditors’ remuneration ZER S 880 880
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 2B1&8E5) » UBTHIR)
INCOME TAX CREDIT 7 FiSHER
Taxation in the consolidated statement of (@) HZEeEmRHEMZEARERPHBE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income ¥ :
represents:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF
$°000 $°000
o For
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ENfifiE— FEFEH
Under-provision in respect of prior years B EEREE T B - 95
- 95
Deferred tax IEFE B IE
Origination and reversal of temporary R ERNELEREE
differences - (230)
- (135)

(b)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong
Kong have either sustained losses for tax purpose or
their unused tax losses were sufficient to cover their
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31

December 2021 and 2020.

Reconciliation between income tax credit and (b)

accounting loss at applicable tax rates:

HREBEE-_ZE-_—FR_ZT_FF
T A=+ RLFETEERT G
- BEAENZRAEIEE BERM
MG M ERE BRI EHED
B -

ek R RERARRTENSH
BEHRAOT :

2021 2020

—EB-—F —E-TF

$°000 $°000

FiT Fr

Loss before taxation bR AT E 1B (2,225) (8,599)

National tax on loss before taxation BRI IEN B ERE (518) (1,419)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR AT BB 2 592 82

Tax effect of non-taxable income FEERBIRAN & (27) (769)

Under-provision in prior years BAEFERETR - 95
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses A LA R IER E’J%)EEIE

previously not recognised EENRETE (147) (219)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERRIBEH BRI

TE 100 2,095

Actual tax credit ERBGER - (135)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 2H188R4N - LAETHIR)

8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8 EFM=e
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RAEE S A AMEH B 383 6 R (AT (B E
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the E=MmERANE 2 BENEZHE
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of N

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Salaries,
allowances  Retirement
Directors and benefits scheme
fees inkind contributions Total
&
REHAR R
E2He  MUERFEA ES:EN @t
Note $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
ik Fr Fr Fr Fr
2021 —B--f
Chairman IE
Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung RT@EAE (i) - 2,118 18 2,136
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau R AE (i) - 1,950 18 1,968
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
Directors
Mr. Law Chung Lam BERESE 180 - - 180
Mr. Pang Kam Fai EHRBLE 180 - - 180
Mr. Lau Yu Ching BMIERE 180 - - 180
540 4,068 36 4,644
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 2B 38885 + SUBITHR)

8 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 8 EEHS
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors  and benefits scheme
fees inkind  contributions Total
b2
B = /N
EEHE UEDFEA HERR Bt
Note $000 $000 $000 $000
fitst Fir Fr Fr Fr

2020 “BCEf

Chairman IE

Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung RT@EAE i) - 1,972 18 1,990

Executive director HITEE

Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau Rk AE (i) - 1,910 18 1,928
Independent non-executive BUHNTEE
Directors
Mr. Law Chung Lam REREE 180 - - 180
Mr. Pang Kam Fai EHRBLE 180 - - 180
Mr. Lau Yu Ching AMERE 180 - - 180
540 3,882 36 4,458

Notes: Hiat -

(i) During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the (0} HE-_T-—FR-T-_FTF+-_A=+—HIE
emoluments of Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung and Mr. Cheung Yuen FE - RUBEERRTREENHEHAAR
Chau were paid by the subsidiaries of the Company. WEBARA -

(i) No director received any emoluments from the Group as an (i) FA - HEEFARNEERREEAME - ERE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as MBREEXEMAREEFERT - F1 -
compensation for loss of office during the year. No arrangement S ERE R B RE T AF BB -
under a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year.
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9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 9 EeMEAL
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two AEABEEHMALTH MB(ZE_FF:
(2020: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed ﬁ%)?%%% ?&%ZM@E@W%S&?@ o K
in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of B=F(ZT_TF : ZF) AL z@Bem
the other three (2020: three) individuals are as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTF
$'000 $°000
Fr For
Salaries and other benefits %—Fi N EH At ra A 2,206 2,151
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRTEFIFTEI R 54 54
2,260 2,205
The emoluments of the three (2020: three) individuals with —H(ZEZEF  ZR) BT MA TR
the highest emoluments are within the following band: EMTELA TSR
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE A#
Nil to $1,000,000 Z 7T % 1,000,000 7T 3 3
10 LOSS PER SHARE 10 BREHE
a) Basic loss per share a) SREFREER
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on EREAREBEEDIEAQA L HERER

124

the loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders
of the Company of $2,225,000 (2020: $8,464,000) and
the weighted average of 1,000,000,000 ordinary
shares (2020: 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares) in issue
during the vyear.

b) Dilutive loss per share
The amount of dilutive loss per share is the same as
basic loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 as there were no dilutive
potential ordinary shares in issue.

b)

A% B3 fE (5 E548 2,225,000 T ( —E = F
F 1 8,464,00070) M FAE BT E R
1,000,000,000/&( — & — =T £ :
1,000,000,000 & & 3@ A% ) 2 Ntk F 152K
FE o

BREEER
BE-_ZE-_—GFR-_ZFT-_FTF+_A
=+—BIEFE BRAEETER
BEEERENEZHITERKR  WE
REEERN S REGRERNEEME
[@ °
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(@

Reconciliation of carrying amount:

11

W= - e KA
(@) FREEHE :

Other
properties Furniture Computer
Leasehold leased for and and office Motor
improvements Own use equipment equipment vehicles Total
HEm ERR
BENERE HENE BRRRE BAZRE HE it
$000 §000 §000 $000 $000 $000
77 77 77 77 I I
Cost; HA:
A1 January 2020 RZEFE-f-A 78 612 12 578 4861 6920
Addtions hE S 240 S 191 38 2919
Disposals it - - - - (1309 (1,309)
At31December2020and  W-E-FE+ZA=1-R
1 January 2021 k-%=-%-B-B 748 3,032 i 769 3920 8,590
Additions HE - 698 - - 88 786
Disposals HE - - - - (402) (402)
M3TDecember202i  H-R=-F1-At-R MW ] ] oo 89
Accumulated depreciation:  B3Hi7E :
At 1 lanuary 2020 WZF-F5-5-8 558 408 % 26 2907 4257
Charge for the year ERER 150 811 B 13 684 1800
Disposals i - - - - (1309 (1,309
A3I December 20 REERELCASTR L AL mo »o s
At 1 January 2021 W-E--£-5-§ 708 1219 il 398 2,302 4,748
Charge for the year ERmx 40 1,118 - 116 575 1,849
Disposals i - - - - (402) (402)
M31December2021  H-R=-%1ZASf-R mow o oM 6195
Net hook valug: RERE:
At 31 December 2020 RZEZFF-A=1-R | 1813 - n 1618 3802
At 31 Decermber 2021 R=B=-F+ZA=t-A - 139 - 25 1131 2719

At 31 December 2021, certain motor vehicles of the
Group with net book value amounting to $831,000
(2020: $1,264,000) have been pledged as securities
for motor vehicles of $831,000 (2020: $1,264,000)
acquired under hire purchase.

R-BE-—F+=-A=+—0H &&
B & FFE A 831,000 T ( ZE T4 ¢
1,264,0007T) 2 W% - R RERED K
HHEARLAE A X E831,0007T(=
T _FTF :1,264,0000T) 2 REBE R E
R o
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

126

(b)

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use

BB TTIIR)

(b) FEREEE

11 VX - BERRE®

EREEERBBEESRRMIENER

assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: EFESTT
2021 2020
B —F —TTF
Note $°000 $°000
btaF Fr Fr
Other properties leased for own use  Hih B AHASME (i) 1,393 1,813
Motor vehicles B (i) 831 1,264
Computer and office equipment B PS8 NE 200 280
2,424 3,357

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases

EESETRANEEESENMIA

recognised in profit or loss is as follows: BT
2021 2020
B —E-TF
$°000 $°000
Fr Frr

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 1 R# & EIRIAR EELE
by class of underlying asset: RIMITERAR :

Other properties leased for own use HihERHEEMZE 1,118 811
Motor vehicles RE 433 596
Computer and office equipment EN S N 81 78
1,632 1,485
Interest on lease liabilities (note &(a)) MEBENE (Hité@) 83 92

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
$698,000 (2020: $2,594,000). This amount included
the capitalised lease payments payable under lease

of warehouses.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in

Notes 16(d) and 18, respectively.

FRFERAEEELINT 698,000 (=
T -FT4F :2,594,0007T) o & EEEIE
EEMEETENZEAMEBERNK -

HEMNRRHARAMLEERE
BB ER DT 0 BB P RE 16(d) 218 »
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office premises and
warehouses through tenancy agreements. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 3
years.

The lease does not include an option to renew
the lease for an additional period after the end
of the contract term.

Other leases

(continued)
(b)

(i)

(ii)

The Group leases motor vehicles and office
equipment under leases expiring from 2 to 3
years. Leases include an option to purchase the
leased motor vehicles and office equipment at
the end of the lease term at a price deemed to
be a bargain purchase option. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or

liabilities

of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary

unless otherwise stated.

11 W% - BERRE @

(b)
(i)

(ii)

EREEE (E)

Hitt B HHEEY#*
AEEERBHEEHRESER
HRIERER RGN AE
MR - MO — RS2
ZE3F o

ZHETBRENBEMRERE
BEMENER -

Htt# &
AEBHESEEBENR2E3IFE
M TERRAERE HER
EREEEEHEMEREL A
W RN EREE AR
EREMMARE - AEEES
TEEAEEEMNNK -

12 RIEATAIIRE
TRECSIEVEARELE  AELR
EHBARFE - BBEHAIN - HER
DIEBI B BB -

Proportion of ownership interest

PRl
Placeand  Particulars of Group’s
Name of date of issued and effective  Held by the  Held by the
Company incorporation  paid-up capital interest Company subsidiary Principal activity
HMEE  ERTREE r&E HARXR  HMEAR
AREH wHRAH RAFE ERER BB ¥E TEER
Man Tung Hong Kong/ 1,000,000 100% - 100% HVAC Business
Air-conditioning 9 April2008  ordinary shares
E&M Limited
ERARAKES &%,/ 1,000,000 LA BRERER
RAR] ZZR\FNANE
Man Tung Hong Kong/ 1,000,000 100% - 100% HVAC Business
Air-conditioning 19 November 1996 ordinary shares
Works Limited
EBLRIRES &%,/ 1,000,000 LR BRZERER
RE] —AARET—ATHE
Shun Tung Hong Kong/ 10,000 100% - 100% HVAC Business
Engineering 6 November 1998 ordinary shares
Company
Limited
JERLRERT &5/ 10,000 % i iz 100% - 100% BREZHES
BERARA —ANNE+—HARA
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13

14

128

BB TTIIR)

INVENTORIES 13 &8
2021 2020
:g: —ﬂi — 7 — E'E
$°000 $°000
Frr For
Raw materials R4k 2,863 -
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14 H{th U FRIE
2021 2020
:g: —ﬂi — 7 — = E'E
$°000 $°000
Fr For
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B S EWGE - R EER G 36,134 28,228
Deposits, prepayments and e TERRRE AR
other receivables 3,312 629
Retention receivables JE AR BR 21,297 24,440
60,743 53,297
At 31 December 2021, the amounts expected to be RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H FBHEHIL—
recovered after more than one year is approximately F 12U B BRI L) A 18,699,0000 (ZFE =

$18,699,000 (2020: $14,405,000). All of the other trade and
other receivables are expected to be recovered or
recognised as expense within one year.

Ageing analysis
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables (which are included in trade and other

T4 1 14,405,0007T)

c FIEEME S REM

FEMIRTRHART N —F A B SR AR o

BRI DA

RImEHRR - 1118

f
HEE

SRS

EREEENEZBUIRGIAE S REM

receivables), based on the date of payment certificate and FEWCRRIE) B BREC AT ZAS -
net of loss allowance, is as follows:
2021 2020
B ZETF
$°000 $°000
Fr Fr
Within 1 month REREIY 34,224 18,501
110 3 months 12 3@ A 813 7,756
Over 3 months A E 1,097 1,971
36,134 28,228
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 45 days from the ZoEWHIEARHRFESHEBEE30E45

date of payment certificate. Further details on the Group’s
credit policy are set out in Note 22(a).

AREHE - AEAKEEERRE P
IR M 5E 22(a)
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15 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

15 AHNEERGHNARE

LIABILITIES
(@) contract assets (@) BHEE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —EETF
$'000 $°000
FiT S7 T
Contract assets EHEE
Arising from performance under installation E4BEBITLZESL
contracts 15,058 14,378
Receivables from contracts with customers  && M & #8515
within the scope of HKFRS 15, which are REEANRERFLELD
included in “Trade and other receivables”  EYEIFIE (GT A [E
SR EMERGRIA]) 57,431 52,668

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract assets recognised are as follows:

Installation contracts

The Group's installation contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
installation period once milestones are reached.
These payment schedules prevent the build-up of
significant contract assets. The Group typically agrees
to a retention period ranging from 12-month period to
24-month period for 5% to 10% of the contract value.
This amount is included in the retention receivables
until the end of the retention period as the Group’s
entitlement to this final payment is conditional on the
Group's work satisfactorily passing inspection. When
the retention period is due and the right to the
retention is unconditional, this amount is included in
the trade receivables.

The amount of revenue reversed during the year from
performance obligations satisfied (or partially
satisfied) in previous periods is $830,000 (2020:
$8,713,000), mainly due to the changes in estimate of
the stage of completion of certain installation
contracts.

As at 31 December 2021, retentions held by customer
for contract work was approximately $21,297,000
(2020: $24,440,000) and have been included in trade
and other receivables (see note 14).

HERAANEESRBRTEN—
RRASTERIGRANT

REEHN
AEELZEANERERZEHHER
DMK RARZ(—BERER) -
HEMNRAREHILBEREREGNEE -
AEE—RRABI% E10%HEHE
BRARPI2ME A ZE24E A R E
Hi o ol 70 AN 5 B R B Ut AR AR AN R O 4
MR A K E T2 5TmE B RR T A
1FE Mt BFARRERES B
EREHMERDLL - WREHE M
U BR (R BE & O 4 I B 23 S R - Rl
TR AE S RYGIA -

FAMBERECET (LMY ET)
B B 40 & 5 3 9 Y A £ 58 43 830,000
T(ZZE=F 4 :87130007T) * &
HRETREAKNTHEER Z M5#
BIATEL

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—H  EF
Fris & 49 T2 IR 8 € 4921,297,000 7C
(=B —F4F : 24,440,0007T) D5t AE
S REMERFIE (RHE14) -
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15 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT GHEBENGHNEE®
LIABILITIES (continued)
(b) Contract liabilities (b) EHEE
2021 2020
:g: - ﬂi — 7 — E'E
$°000 $°000
Fr Frr
Contract liabilities EHEE
Installation contracts TEREH
— Billings in advance of performance — TR B HIFRIE - 1,093
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount HEBREVaESEBNEEN—
of contract liabilities recognised are as follows: AT FUESRAN T
Installation contracts ZREHN
When the Group receives a stage payment over the s 75 52 [ 50 4 1 AR 755 AT A2 0 3 R R R
installation period before the services are performed, Moy B AIEAEHNEBE BEE
this gives rise to contract liabilities, until the revenue REATIRERNW AR D B HK
recognised on the contract work exceeds the amount MEREAaLE -

of stage payment.

Movements in contract liabilities BHEEBENEE
2021 2020
—E-—-F ZETF
$°000 $°000
FI FIT
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bm&Es 1,093 1,275

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of F AR ABTE LB ED
recognising revenue during the year that ~ WWABH AN EER D
was included in the contract liabilities at

the beginning of the year (1,093) (1,185)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of ~ Z2 &R ENEY FEU FIBE HA 4

billing in advance of installation activities & 10 - 1,003
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—HH%&& - 1,093
No billings in advance of performance and 1BE 48 78 S 1R A AR 7 S W B 43 B < 30
instalments received are expected to be recognised BRESTEEGE I — F 1R R ABWA

as income after more than one year.

130



Annual Report 2021/ Z& Z—4F4EHt

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A 3 W 5 e e i

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k2 A sEBESN -

BB TTYR)

16 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND 16 SRITRFERSURHMESE
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EER
(@) cCash at bank and in hand comprise: (@) S$HITRFERE:
2021 2020
:%ﬁ:—ﬂf — 7 —% E'E
$'000 $°000
FiT S7 T
Cash at banks and on hand RITRFHERS 85,826 92,638
Less: time deposits with original o REEAREA=EA
maturity over three months B E HITFE R (35,000) (55,000)
Cash and cash equivalents in the HFABRESRERTHIRE
consolidated cash flow statement LEEEEY 50,826 37,638

(b)

Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash

(b) BRBAIBEEKE (A FHERE

generated (used in)/from operations: RYRIR -
2021 2020
—E--F —T-%F
Note $°000 $'000
k23 FT Fr
Loss before taxation PR AT EIE (2,225) (8,599)
Adjustments for: RUTSEELRE
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - WBRBENE é(c)
equipment 217 315
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE é(c) 1,632 1,485
Finance costs BB 6(a) 83 98
Bank interest income RITFIBUA 5 (153) (926)
Gain on disposal of property, plantand H&E¥E - #28 L& 5
equipment gy (12) (50)
Operating cash flows before changesin =~ 2@ & & B BBl AL
working capital Reng (458) (7,677)
Increase in inventories FEEN (2,863) -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other B 5 & E b FEU T IE
receivables (&), B (7,412) 186
Net movement in contractassetsand ~~ AXEERANEEF
contract liabilities 23 (1,773) 14,882
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other & 5 J E A FEA 708
payables #m/CRd) 7,521 (6,814)
Cash (used in)/generated from s (FTR) /Fifs
operations Be (4,985) 577
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16 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND 16 SRITRFERSURHMARESR

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION E&EH @)

(continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) MAEIBFMELEEENEE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TREMAEERETH 2 BEES
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash BERSRIIERSEE - g &M
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from EXMBEEATESRENARNKE
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows EMEBREAEEGERERERD
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the EARMBEHMELANESEENE
Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash & o

132

flows from financing activities.

Lease
liabilities
HEBE
$°000
Fr
(Note 18)
(H15E18)
At 1 January 2020 R-E-ZEF—H—H 2,032
Changes from financing cash flows: MEREMEZD
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERSNERE S (1,530)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEERSOMEE S 92)
Total changes from financing cash flows = m&Ren8&&es (1,622).
Other changes: Hin# s
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into  FFAMR I AL MEINNEEEE
new leases during the year 2,594
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) MEFX (Bt é@) 92
Totalotherchanges AmE®es 2,686
At 31 December 2020 R-B-EF+-H=+—H 3,096
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16 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND 16 RIOTRFERAEUREMBRER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION E&ER @)
(continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) WMAEIBFMELEEENYEE(E)
financing activities (continued)
Lease
liabilities
HEas
$°000
Fr
(Note 18)
(Kiat 18)
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—%—HA—H 3,096
Changes from financing cash flows: BMERSRELE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERENERE Y (1,787)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHERSNFEI D (83)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ m&R@n8Z®es (1,870)
Other changes: Hin# s :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into  FFARMREI AL MENNEEEE
new leases during the year 698
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) MBHAZ (MtiEé@) 83
Totalotherchanges  AtE®es 781
At 31 December 2021 R=B=-—-%+=H=+—H 2,007
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16 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND 16 SRITRFEREURHEMRER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION E&EMN @)
(continued)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d)y HEBRESRHHAZE

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for
leases comprise the following:

HERSARRTHNERBREATRIE

2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
$°000 $°000
Fr Frr
Within financing cash flows ERERSRA 1,870 1,622
These amounts relate to the following: ZESBEHETYZIBER :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETF
$°000 $°000
Fi T
Lease rentals paid BENES 1,870 1,622
(e) Pledged bank deposits (e) TIEMBITER
The balances represent deposits pledged to secure EHRIEAERRTELNBHRES
the issuance of performance bonds by banks. IR TR
17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 17 ESZRHEHMEMNRKIA
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
$°000 $°000
FT T
Trade payables B S e IR 10,202 6,035
Accrued subcontracting costs JEET 5 B 1,069 295
Other payables and accruals HAb R FIE R ESTE A 7,307 4,727
18,578 11,057

134

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be
settled within one year.

BB 5 LEMENFIREHN —FREE -
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17 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

18

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of

BB TTIIR)

17 E5REMEMARE @
RIEIR - R RANBS OE SR

trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: THHEEE DN T ¢
2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
$'000 $°000
o S /T
Within 1 month TEAR 9,482 3,941
1to 2 months 1221@A 490 1,173
2 to 3 months 22 318A 196 808
Over 3 months 31E A+ 34 113
10,202 6,035

LEASE LIABILITIES 18 HEASE

At 31 December 2021, the lease liabilities were repayable

as follows: EaBENT -

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

$°000 $°000

F7T T
withintyear o VEW. 1443 1627

After 1 year but within 2 years 1FBE2FR 490 1,091
After 2 years but within S5years 2% f&ESEN o 378
I se4 1489

2,007 3,096
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19 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED HEMBRRRZAER
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(a) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised (a) COEAERLHE(EE) &8
Movement of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities ;‘JE EHE(LE) BEEE
The component of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities PR AP R ERRNELERE (&
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial E)/E BRI RERFANES
position and the movements during the year are as /AN
follows:
Depreciation
allowances in
excess of
related
depreciation Tax losses Total
mERE
HEHEERE RIEEE st
$°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Fr Fr
At 1 January 2020 RZE_FF—H—H 248 (18) 230
Credited to profit or loss T AEZ ) (219) (230)

At 31 December 2020 R-E-_ZFF+-A

=+—H 237 (237) -
At 1 January 2021 WZZE=-——%F—H—H 237 (237) -
(Credited)/charged to (5t A/ H0Br1Es
profit or loss (14) 14 -
At 31 December 2021 RZE——F+=A
=+—H 223 (223) -
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) KREFELEHRBEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in RRMEF200 MM EFEEK - AR
Note 2(0), the Group has not recognised deferred tax REEEE A ES A BRI B B E
assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of BRRKERT T - At ANEEH
$13,004,000 (2020: $13,289,000) as it is uncertain that & $13,004,0000( = & = & F:
future taxable profits against which the assets can be 13,289,0007T) H) RIEH IH BB RE
utilised will be available. The tax losses do not expire ERIBEE - 2 SHIBEBERIEERT
under current tax legislation. RIS AP AR B

136



Annual Report 2021/ Z & —44: 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fo o B 05 e o0 B

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (f 2& T8 - LB TTIIR)

20 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

21

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of $30,000. Contributions
to the plan vest immediately.

Contributions to the provident fund by the Group for its
employees are fully and immediately vested in the
employees once the contribution are made. There are no
contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its
employees who leave the plan prior to vesting fully in such
contribution. Hence, there is no forfeited contributions
which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions.

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(@) Movement in components of equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated

20 {ESERIKEF

21

AEBRBEEERGIMEABEEEEIAE
BRRBEGIIRETRENEERY AR
HIERES B (AR 8]) - BEER
B R —HHBUZTAETENTERHIEMN
a8l - RipmiEestal c BEREEERAR
RIREEHBWANS% MBI AE
AR A 30,000 T4 £ R o 5 EIHRENR
B -

A E AR B TR SR R
ERE2BROESERES - HRESH
=2 BRI ANHES - AEETE
RERESIRERER - Bl THERE
B A P B M SRR B 0K
FHED -

BXN A

(a) BBEARBHBD
AREGAESSARBIHFENR
FREBOHEINGAMRBE -
AR TS B (B4, A F )

statement of changes in equity. Details of the REREIHEBHOT
changes of the Company’s individual components of
(deficits)/equity between the beginning and the end
of year are set out below:
Share Share Accumulated
capital premium losses Total
Company KAH N B RE ZitER @t
Note $000 $000 $000 $000
first Fr Fr Fr FI
(Note 21(b))  (Note 21(c)(i)
(BEE210)  (HFEE 21(c)
At 1 January 2020 RZZE-TE-R—AH 10,000 107,850 (22,057) 95,793
Loss and total comprehensive  FRBERZENRER
income for the year - - (2,797) 2,79
At 31 December 2020 RZEZFF+-A=1—H 10,000 107,850 (24,848) 93,002
At 1 January 2021 RZZ-—%—H—H 10,000 107,850 (24,848) 93,002
Loss and total comprehensive  FRBEREEWRGER
income for the year - - (3,506) (3,5006)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F+ZRA=1—H 10,000 107,850 (28,354) 89,496
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21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 21 BXRREE =)
(b) Share capital (b) B
The Company
NN
No. of shares $°000
Ri7&E Tz
Authorised ordinary shares BREEA0.01 THEE
of $0.01 each: ZBER:
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 W—_ZE-_ZF+_-_A=+—8 -
and 31 December 2021 T -F—-H—BK
—2-—F+-HA=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Ordinary shares, issued and ZER BRITRAR:
fully paid:
At 31 December 2020, 1 January 2021 R-Z-ZTFE+—-F=+—H -
and 31 December 2021 T -F-H—HK
—E-—F+-_A=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i)  Share premium
The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may
be applied by the Company subject to the
provisions, if any, of its memorandum and
articles of association in paying distributions or
dividends to equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the
equity shareholders out of the share premium
account unless immediately following the date
on which the distribution or dividends is
proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

138

(c)

EREBRFEAGRERTHEIRAN R
B INARRAEG LIZERBRNZF
E-ZROREE - IAEEEBRRAR
ANBREETZHEDENER -

REEEREN

(i)  KiEE
BiaBRIEFEHEAREAR
B WA HAARRRIFAMER
KA N A 632 (A0 ) AR
R RN IREAS -

BRIFERE D IR B 2 B
HIR AR B REMEN A EER
BIZFRBIBER - SRINENA
P34 18 BR A 4 2 AR S A9 0 IR
SRS,
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21 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

()

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(i) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the aggregate
amount of the excess of the nominal value of
shares of the subsidiaries acquired over the
nominal value of shares of the Company
exchanged as a part of the reorganisation
during the Company's initial public offering.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to fund its
construction business and provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might be
possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements.

Distributable reserves

As 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of the
reserves attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association
was $79,496,000 (2020: $83,002,000).
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22

140

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate and foreign
currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the
financial risk management policies and practices used by
the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group's credit risk is
primarily attributable to bank deposits and trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets. The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

The Group does not provide any guarantee which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Bank deposits

Cash is deposited with financial institutions with
sound credit ratings and the Group has exposure limit
to any single financial institution. Given their high
credit ratings, management does not expect any of
these financial institutions and counterparties will fail
to meet their obligations.

Trade receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk
in a few customers. In view of their good payment
record and long-established relationships with the
Group, management does not consider the Group's
credit risk to be significant. At the end of the reporting
period, 38% (2020: 26%) and 91% (2020: 89%) of the
total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed as part of
the acceptance procedures for new construction
contracts. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
30 to 45 days from the date of payment certificate.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(@

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, retention receivables and
contract assets (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is based
on the probability of default with reference to
available market information, taking into account any
credit enhancement. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience indicates different loss patterns for
different customers, the loss allowance based on
past due status is further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
management identified the credit risk of retention
receivables associated with certain customers has
increased significantly since initial recognition and
performed reassessment on the ECLs of these
customers. As a result, loss allowance of $733,000
has been provided for the retention receivables due
from these customers and fully written off as
uncollectible.

The Group recognised loss allowance of $350,000
(2020: $350,000) on the trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs, which is measured based on the
probability of default for the year ended 31 December
2021. The Group considered that there is no
significant loss allowance recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9 as at 31 December 2021, and no
expected credit loss rate has therefore been
disclosed.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (continued)

142

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating subsidiaries within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities as at 31 December 2021 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at 31 December 2021) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

For bank loans subject to repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash
outflow based on expected repayment dates with
reference to the schedule of repayments set out in
the banking facilities letters and, separately, the
impact to the timing of the cash outflow if the lenders
were to invoke unconditional rights to call the loans
with immediate effect.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 22 BIEEMEERDFE @)
FAIR VALUES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBELRE(F)
2021
—B--%
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
AHARRRSRY

Total More than More than
Carrying  contractual Within 1yearbut 2 years but
amount at  undiscounted 1year or less than less than
31 December cashflow  ondemand 2 years 5years

R+=h
=t-H AHAER 1R 150 264 L
WEREE RERELE RER BAR2E BAHR5F
$°000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
r r Fr r Fr
Trade and other payables BHREMERFR 18,578 18,578 18,578 - -
Lease liabilties BERE 2,007 2,056 1,482 498 76
20,585 20,634 20,060 498 76

2020
It S 33
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ARAERARTL

Total More than More than
Carrying contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
amountat  undiscounted 1yearor less than less than
31 December cash flow on demand 2years 5years

i
=+-A ARREE TR 1EE 2FE
HEEE RENELE RESL BAR2E BARSE
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
Fir Fr T Fir T
Trade and other payables BHREhERNFE 11,057 11,057 11,057 - -
Lease liabilities HEaRE 3,096 3,208 1,704 1,118 386
14,153 14,265 12,761 1,118 386
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

144

FAIR VALUES (continued)

()

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (c)
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future

cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in market interest rates. The

Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates

expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The

Group's interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out below.

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group's borrowings at the end of the reporting
period.

BB TTIIR)

22 BIEEREERATE@®
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&R e e R T AND FESRR
RenERMSMNEEEHMmEL XS
YRR o ANER B R R E R BIR R
RITEE - WEPHHEELENBES
AEEAZRSRENXER - BE
BB AR EN R RN T -

FIEHR
TRAVAEEEERREH RO
ES

2021 2020
ZEI-F It g3
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
ERRIZ ERA%
% $'000 % $000
I T
Fixed rate borrowings: EEF%ES:
leaseliabiites HERR 348 2007 31%%-482% 30%
Total borrowings [EEEH 2,007 3,0%
Fixed rate borrowings as a percentage of - Bl FIR B EESEEN
total borrowing Bt 100% 100%

The Group has no significant exposure to interest rate
risk as all of the Group’s borrowings are at fixed rate.

Foreign currency risk (d)
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign

currency risk as all of the Group's transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

Fair value measurement (e)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets

and liabilities carried at amortised cost are not

materially different from their fair values at the end of

the reporting period.
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23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to transactions and balances disclosed

elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group entered RN -

into the following material related transactions.

(@) Key management personnel remuneration (a)
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the

23 EXEBAXS

BRUSMHRREMBHRENR S RS
REBEIZATERRA

FTEEEEASHMH

BB TTIIR)

B35 -

AEBETZEEABNFHI(BHEME
8P BR A AR B E F ST M BRIA KMt
FIMBERETRHMES S HH

highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as ZIE)IE
follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F T _TF
$'000 $°000
Fr Fr
Salaries and other benefits FehHEMEF 6,274 6,736
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3Rk #& F5H 214 5% 90 90
6,364 6,826

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see

Fem st ATETITAA ] (R

Note 6(b)). 6(b)) °
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EERAEEFAMIRRS
2021 2020
—E-—-F —ECTF
$°000 $°000
Fr FT
Lease payments paid to related B NCIEE k- DA

companies 982 770
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23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 23 EXEABAERS @)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(c) Applicability of the Listing rules relating to (c) HEEXZHEBENLWRINERAME
connected transactions
The related party transaction in respect of Note 23(b) B 5 23(b) BY R B 5 32 B e AR R iE
above constitutes connected transactions as defined R (FEER FTHRAUFEMAZE) - A
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, the i BREBERSERE 14A76(1) 1§
transaction is exempt from the disclosure HMREREKT - A eEF LT
requirement in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as it HABVUAZEHIFERTE -
is below the de minimis threshold under Rule 14
A.76(1).
24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 24 HAREE
At 31 December 2021, contingent liabilities not provided for RZE-—F+-_A=+—H8 TERLKE
in the consolidated financial statements were as follows: I HRRANHRBENSRBENT -
Performance bonds BHARES
2021 2020
B ZEZTF
$°000 $°000
Fir FT

Performance bonds given to customers for A EH1TAREBWE QT
due and proper performance of projects FEIBEE MG TEPHELD
undertaken by the Group’s subsidiaries RES 4,226 4,226
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FINANCIAL POSITION

25 ATEEBEMNEERRR

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETTF
Note $°000 $°000
et FiT For
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries  ARMERRNERE 12 2 2.
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H A U GRIR 206 173
Amounts due from subsidiaries AN 85,230 85,188
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHERS 5,103 8,763
e ...90539 94,124
current liability REBAS
Otherpayables  Hfmgpqzs 1045 1724
L 1045 1124
Netcurrentassets ~~ #A®BEE¥E 000000 89494 93,000
NET ASSETS EEFE 89,496 93,002
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARRHE
Share capital f&Zx 21(b) 10,000 10,000
Reserves W& . T794% 83,002
TOTAL EQUITY XA 89,496 93,002
IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE 26 BERRKRERAS

CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2021, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be
Prime Pinnacle Limited, which is incorporated in Republic

= B

RZEZ—F+-A=+—H EER4E&
ENEZS AR MERIES T AREETR L
AN EE 5 AR 32 A9 Prime Pinnacle Limited o 1t

of Seychelles. This entity does not produce financial ERVEGRIHARATHERAIHEERE

statements available for public use.
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27 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet
effective for the year ended 31 December 2021 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant

BB TTIIR)

27

HEUHSEWHRETELE  FESAQ
SEEMZIEET M LD - FBTHR
HEBFE175 - RBRELH - MABBIETMH
FIEAREE S - —F+_A=+—HL
FEEAERE T EN IS RE AR
o ZEER] TR ERIRREBEE T

to the Group.

RREAEEAMNIAR -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RTHABRRZEHS

WETTHBEN

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-related rent  &E R &R FE 16 571E5] 1 April 2021
concessions beyond 30 June 2021 RZEZ—FH=1H#% —E-—FMWMA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16, Onerous — cost of
fulfilling a contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020
Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting
estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

—E-ABRBEREEE AR

BBV BHRELEREIRIEFT - 1 January 2022
TR B HESR — - —4#—H—H

BFEGRTERIZE 165R1EF]
EHRE ) — JBTTEHIRIEK AR

1 January 2022
T F—AF—H

BB AS 2RI 2018-2020 FE HIAY 1 January 2022
FREE —E-_F—H—H

FEGRTERE1RER - HRESD
BERREAIFRE

1 January 2023
—ET-=%—H—H

BEGTERE 1R LEBYBRE
HRNWEREERIE 2RIER] - 2aTE
R

1 January 2023
—E2-=%—H—H

EBRILAESHIEA - B
H2EH

1 January 2023
—E-=F—H—H

EBGHERIE 125 IEFTA -
—RBELCEERRERHZ
EEHEA

1 January 2023
—E2-=F—H—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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